Wiley Series on Pharmaceutical Science and Biotechnology: Practices, Applications, and Methods

Mike S. Lee, Series Editor

TARGETED BIOMARKER QUANTITATION BY LC-MS

EDITED BY NAIDONG WENG WENYING JIAN



Targeted Biomarker Quantitation by LC-MS

WILEY SERIES ON PHARMACEUTICAL SCIENCE AND BIOTECHNOLOGY: PRACTICES, APPLICATIONS, AND METHODS

Series Editor: Mike S. Lee Milestone Development Services

Mike S. Lee • Integrated Strategies for Drug Discovery Using Mass Spectrometry

Birendra Pramanik, Mike S. Lee, and Guodong Chen • Characterization of Impurities and Degradants Using Mass Spectrometry

Mike S. Lee and Mingshe Zhu • Mass Spectrometry in Drug Metabolism and Disposition: Basic Principles and Applications

Mike S. Lee (Editor) • Mass Spectrometry Handbook

Wenkui Li and Mike S. Lee • Dried Blood Spots-Applications and Techniques

Mike S. Lee (Editor) and Qin C. Ji (Editor) • Protein Analysis using Mass Spectrometry: Accelerating Protein Biotherapeutics from Lab to Patient

Ayman F. El-Kattan and Mike S. Lee (Series Editor) • Oral Bioavailability Assessment: Basics and Strategies for Drug Discovery and Development

Naidong Weng and Wenying Jian (Editor) • Targeted Biomarker Quantitation by LC-MS

Targeted Biomarker Quantitation by LC–MS

Edited by Dr. Naidong Weng and Dr. Wenying Jian

Janssen Research & Development, LLC

WILEY

This edition first published 2017 © 2017 John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, except as permitted by law. Advice on how to obtain permission to reuse material from this title is available at http://www.wiley.com/go/permissions.

The right of Dr. Naidong Weng and Dr. Wenying Jian to be identified as the authors of the editorial material in this work has been asserted in accordance with law.

Registered Office John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 111 River Street, Hoboken, NJ 07030, USA

Editorial Office 111 River Street, Hoboken, NJ 07030, USA

For details of our global editorial offices, customer services, and more information about Wiley products visit us at www.wiley.com.

Wiley also publishes its books in a variety of electronic formats and by print-on-demand. Some content that appears in standard print versions of this book may not be available in other formats.

Limit of Liability/Disclaimer of Warranty

In view of ongoing research, equipment modifications, changes in governmental regulations, and the constant flow of information relating to the use of experimental reagents, equipment, and devices, the reader is urged to review and evaluate the information provided in the package insert or instructions for each chemical, piece of equipment, reagent, or device for, among other things, any changes in the instructions or indication of usage and for added warnings and precautions. While the publisher and authors have used their best efforts in preparing this work, they make no representations or warranties with respect to the accuracy or completeness of the contents of this work and specifically disclaim all warranties, including without limitation any implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose. No warranty may be created or extended by sales representatives, written sales materials or promotional statements for this work. The fact that an organization, website, or product is referred to in this work as a citation and/or potential source of further information does not mean that the publisher and authors endorse the information or services the organization, website, or product may provide or recommendations it may make. This work is sold with the understanding that the publisher is not engaged in rendering professional services. The advice and strategies contained herein may not be suitable for your situation. You should consult with a specialist where appropriate. Further, readers should be aware that websites listed in this work may have changed or disappeared between when this work was written and when it is read. Neither the publisher nor authors shall be liable for any loss of profit or any other commercial damages, including but not limited to special, incidental, consequential, or other damages.

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Names: Weng, Naidong, editor. | Jian, Wenying, editor.
Title: Targeted biomarker quantitation by LC-MS / edited by Dr. Naidong Weng and Dr. Wenying Jian, Janssen Research & Development, LLC.
Other titles: Targeted biomarker quantitation by liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry
Description: First edition. | Hoboken, NJ : Wiley, 2017. | Series: Wiley series on pharmaceutical science and biotechnology: Practices, applications, and methods ; 2954 | Includes index. |
Identifiers: LCCN 2017013161 (print) | LCCN 2017016881 (ebook) | ISBN 9781119413066 (pdf) | ISBN 9781119413059 (epub) | ISBN 9781119103066 (cloth)
Subjects: LCSH: Liquid chromatography. | Mass spectrometry. | Biochemical markers.
Classification: LCC QD79.C454 (ebook) | LCC QD79.C454 T37 2017 (print) | DDC 572/.36-dc23 LC record available at https://lccn.loc.gov/2017013161

Cover image: Courtesy of Lili Guo Cover design by Wiley

Set in 10/12pt Warnock by SPi Global, Pondicherry, India

Published in the United States of America

 $10 \quad 9 \quad 8 \quad 7 \quad 6 \quad 5 \quad 4 \quad 3 \quad 2 \quad 1$

Contents

List of Contributors xv**Preface** *xix* Abbreviations xxiii

Part I **Overview** 1

1 Overview of Targeted Quantitation of Biomarkers and Its Applications 3 Naidong Weng

- Introduction 3
- 1.1 1.2
- Biomarker Definition 4
- 1.3 Current Challenges of a Biomarker 5
- 1.4 Biomarker Validation Process 6
- Current Regulatory Requirement for Target Biomarker Quantitation 6 1.5
- Challenges of Biomarker Quantitation 7 1.6
- 1.7 Current Technologies for Biomarker Quantitation 8
- 1.7.1LC-MS 8
- 1.7.2GC-MS 8
- 1.7.3 Ligand-Binding Assay 9
- 1.7.4 Flow Cytometry 9
- 1.7.5 Quantitative PCR (qPCR) 9
- Current Biomarker Quantitation Applications 9 1.8
- 1.8.1 Protein Biomarkers 9
- 1.8.2 Peptide Biomarkers 10
- RNA Biomarkers 11 1.8.3
- 1.8.4 Nucleotide Biomarkers 11
- 1.8.5 Small Molecule Biomarkers 11
- 1.9 Conclusion and Future Perspective 12 References 13

2 **Translational Application of Biomarkers** 17

- Ray Bakhtiar
- 2.1Introduction 17
- 2.2 Translational Medicine 17
- 2.3 Biomarkers 18
- 2.4Biomarker Categories 18
- 2.5 Neurobiological Disorders 21
- 2.6 Cardiovascular Disorders 22
- 2.7 Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease 23
- 2.8 Oncology 24
- 2.9 Biomarker Measurements and Regulatory Considerations 26
- Conclusions 27 2.10
 - References 29

vi Contents

3	Current Regulatory Guidance Pertaining Biomarker Assay Establishment and Industrial		
	Practice of Fit-for-Purpose and Tiered Approach 35		
	Naidong Weng		
3.1	Introduction 35		
3.2	Current Regulatory Guidance and Interpretation 36		
33	Current Industrial Discussion and Recommendations 37		
3.4	Considerations for Assay Validation and Sample Analysis 20		
J. T 2/11	Considerations for Assay Validation and Sample Analysis 39		
5.4.1 2.4.2	Sensitivity 40		
3.4.2	Specificity and Selectivity 40		
3.4.3	Matrix Effects and Sample Variables 40		
3.4.3.1	Authentic Analyte/Authentic Matrix Approach 40		
3.4.3.2	Surrogate Analyte/Authentic Matrix Approach 40		
3.4.3.3	Authentic Analyte/Surrogate Matrix Approach 40		
3.4.4	Accuracy/Precision 40		
3.4.5	Stability 41		
3.4.6	Sample Analysis Consideration 41		
3.5	Examples of Fit-for-Purpose and Tiered Approach 41		
351	Relative Quantification of Glyco-isoforms of Intact Anolinoprotein		
5.5.1	C2 in Human Dlasma by LC HPMS 41		
252	Control Figure of 10 Hydrowych clostoral Endogen oug Diamarker		
3.5.2	Quantification of 4p-Hydroxycholesterol Endogenous Biomarker		
	for CYP3A4 Activity in Plasma Samples 41		
3.5.3	Quantitation of Leukotriene B4 in Human		
	Sputum as a Biomarker Using UPLC–MS/MS 42		
3.6	Conclusion 42		
	References 42		
4	Modern Liquid Chromatography and Mass Spectrometry for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation 45		
4	Modern Liquid Chromatography and Mass Spectrometry for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation 45		
4 4.1	Modern Liquid Chromatography and Mass Spectrometry for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation 45 Wenying Jian Introduction 45		
4 4.1 4.2	Modern Liquid Chromatography and Mass Spectrometry for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation 45 Wenying Jian Introduction 45 Liquid Chromatography 45		
4 4.1 4.2 4.2 1	Modern Liquid Chromatography and Mass Spectrometry for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation 45 Wenying Jian Introduction 45 Liquid Chromatography 45 Importance of Separation 45		
4 4.1 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2	Modern Liquid Chromatography and Mass Spectrometry for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation 45 Wenying Jian Introduction 45 Liquid Chromatography 45 Importance of Separation 45 Pagis Principle of LC 47		
4 4.1 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2	Modern Liquid Chromatography and Mass Spectrometry for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation 45 Wenying Jian Introduction 45 Liquid Chromatography 45 Importance of Separation 45 Basic Principle of LC 47 Main Mades of LC 1994 for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation 47		
4 4.1 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3	Modern Liquid Chromatography and Mass Spectrometry for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation 45 Wenying Jian Introduction 45 Liquid Chromatography 45 Importance of Separation 45 Basic Principle of LC 47 Major Modes of LC Used for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation 47		
4 4.1 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4	Modern Liquid Chromatography and Mass Spectrometry for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation45Wenying JianIntroduction45Liquid Chromatography45Importance of Separation45Basic Principle of LC47Major Modes of LC Used for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation47Modern LC Technologies49		
4 4.1 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.4.1	Modern Liquid Chromatography and Mass Spectrometry for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation45Wenying JianIntroduction45Liquid Chromatography45Importance of Separation45Basic Principle of LC47Major Modes of LC Used for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation47Modern LC Technologies49HPLC and UHPLC49		
4 4.1 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.4.1 4.2.4.2	Modern Liquid Chromatography and Mass Spectrometry for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation45Wenying JianIntroduction45Liquid Chromatography45Importance of Separation45Basic Principle of LC47Major Modes of LC Used for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation47Modern LC Technologies49HPLC and UHPLC49Miniaturized Column LC50		
4 4.1 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.4.1 4.2.4.2 4.2.4.3	Modern Liquid Chromatography and Mass Spectrometry for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation45Wenying JianIntroduction45Liquid Chromatography45Importance of Separation45Basic Principle of LC47Major Modes of LC Used for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation47Modern LC Technologies49HPLC and UHPLC49Miniaturized Column LC502D-LC51		
4 4.1 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.4.1 4.2.4.2 4.2.4.3 4.3	Modern Liquid Chromatography and Mass Spectrometry for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation45Wenying JianIntroduction45Liquid Chromatography45Importance of Separation45Basic Principle of LC47Major Modes of LC Used for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation47Modern LC Technologies49HPLC and UHPLC49Miniaturized Column LC502D-LC51Mass Spectrometry51		
4 4.1 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.4.1 4.2.4.2 4.2.4.3 4.3 4.3	Modern Liquid Chromatography and Mass Spectrometry for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation45Wenying JianIntroduction45Liquid Chromatography45Importance of Separation45Basic Principle of LC47Major Modes of LC Used for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation47Modern LC Technologies49HPLC and UHPLC49Miniaturized Column LC502D-LC51Mass Spectrometry51Major Types of MS Used for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation51		
4 4.1 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.4.1 4.2.4.2 4.2.4.3 4.3 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2	Modern Liquid Chromatography and Mass Spectrometry for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation45Wenying JianIntroduction45Liquid Chromatography45Importance of Separation45Basic Principle of LC47Major Modes of LC Used for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation47Modern LC Technologies49HPLC and UHPLC49Miniaturized Column LC502D-LC51Mass Spectrometry51Major Types of MS Used for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation51Ionization Techniques54		
4 4.1 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.4.1 4.2.4.2 4.2.4.2 4.2.4.3 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3	Modern Liquid Chromatography and Mass Spectrometry for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation45Wenying JianIntroduction45Liquid Chromatography45Importance of Separation45Basic Principle of LC47Major Modes of LC Used for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation47Modern LC Technologies49HPLC and UHPLC49Miniaturized Column LC502D-LC51Mass Spectrometry51Major Types of MS Used for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation51Ionization Techniques54Ion Mobility54		
4 4.1 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.4.1 4.2.4.2 4.2.4.3 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4	Modern Liquid Chromatography and Mass Spectrometry for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation45Wenying JianIntroduction45Liquid Chromatography45Importance of Separation45Basic Principle of LC47Major Modes of LC Used for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation47Modern LC Technologies49HPLC and UHPLC49Miniaturized Column LC502D-LC51Major Types of MS Used for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation51Ionization Techniques54Ion Mobility54Fragmentation Mode55		
4 4.1 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.4.1 4.2.4.2 4.2.4.3 4.3 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5	Modern Liquid Chromatography and Mass Spectrometry for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation45Wenying JianIntroduction45Liquid Chromatography45Importance of Separation45Basic Principle of LC47Major Modes of LC Used for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation47Modern LC Technologies49HPLC and UHPLC49Miniaturized Column LC502D-LC51Major Types of MS Used for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation51Ionization Techniques54Ion Mobility54Fragmentation Mode55Emerging MS Techniques56		
4 4.1 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.4.1 4.2.4.2 4.2.4.3 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.3.5 4.3.5	Modern Liquid Chromatography and Mass Spectrometry for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation45Wenying JianIntroduction45Liquid Chromatography45Importance of Separation45Basic Principle of LC47Major Modes of LC Used for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation47Modern LC Technologies49HPLC and UHPLC49Miniaturized Column LC502D-LC51Mass Spectrometry51Major Types of MS Used for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation51Ionization Techniques54Ion Mobility54Fragmentation Mode55Emerging MS Techniques56MS Imaring56		
4 4.1 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.4.1 4.2.4.2 4.2.4.3 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.3.5.1 4.2.5 2	Modern Liquid Chromatography and Mass Spectrometry for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation45Wenying JianIntroduction45Liquid Chromatography45Importance of Separation45Basic Principle of LC47Major Modes of LC Used for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation47Modern LC Technologies49HPLC and UHPLC49Miniaturized Column LC502D-LC51Mass Spectrometry51Mojor Types of MS Used for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation51Ionization Techniques54Ion Mobility54Fragmentation Mode55Emerging MS Techniques56MS Imaging56Other Surface Analyzir MS Techniques58		
4 4.1 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.4.1 4.2.4.2 4.2.4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.3.5.1 4.3.5.2 4.4	Modern Liquid Chromatography and Mass Spectrometry for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation45Wenying JianIntroduction45Liquid Chromatography45Importance of Separation45Basic Principle of LC47Major Modes of LC Used for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation47Modern LC Technologies49HPLC and UHPLC49Miniaturized Column LC502D-LC51Mass Spectrometry51Major Types of MS Used for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation51Ionization Techniques54Ion Mobility54Fragmentation Mode55Emerging MS Techniques56MS Imaging56Other Surface Analysis MS Techniques58Summery and Eutype Data58Summery and Eutype Data58		
4 4.1 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.4.1 4.2.4.2 4.2.4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.3.5.1 4.3.5.2 4.4	Modern Liquid Chromatography and Mass Spectrometry for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation 45 Wenying JianIntroduction 45 Liquid Chromatography 45 Importance of Separation 45 Basic Principle of LC 47 Major Modes of LC Used for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation 47 Modern LC Technologies 49 HPLC and UHPLC 49 Miniaturized Column LC 50 2D-LC 51 Mass Spectrometry 51 Major Types of MS Used for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation 51 Ionization Techniques 54 Ion Mobility 54 Fragmentation Mode 55 Emerging MS Techniques 56 MS Imaging 56 Other Surface Analysis MS Techniques 58 Summary and Future Perspectives 58		
4 4.1 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.4.1 4.2.4.2 4.2.4.3 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.3.5.1 4.3.5.2 4.4	Modern Liquid Chromatography and Mass Spectrometry for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation45Wenying JianIntroduction45Liquid Chromatography45Importance of Separation45Basic Principle of LC47Major Modes of LC Used for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation47Modern LC Technologies49HPLC and UHPLC49Miniaturized Column LC502D-LC51Mass Spectrometry51Ionization Techniques54Ion Mobility54Fragmentation Mode55Emerging MS Techniques56MS Imaging56Other Surface Analysis MS Techniques58Summary and Future Perspectives58References59		
4 4.1 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.4.1 4.2.4.2 4.2.4.3 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.3.5.1 4.3.5.2 4.4	Modern Liquid Chromatography and Mass Spectrometry for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation 45 Wenying Jian Introduction 45 Introduction 45 Liquid Chromatography 45 Basic Principle of LC 47 Major Modes of LC Used for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation 47 Modern LC Technologies 49 HPLC and UHPLC 49 Miniaturized Column LC 50 2D-LC 51 Mass Spectrometry 51 Mojor Types of MS Used for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation 51 Ionization Techniques 54 Ion Mobility 54 Fragmentation Mode 55 Emerging MS Techniques 56 MS Imaging 56 Other Surface Analysis MS Techniques 58 Summary and Future Perspectives 58 Summary and Future Perspectives 58 References 59		
4 4.1 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.4.1 4.2.4.2 4.2.4.3 4.3 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.3.5 4.3.5.1 4.3.5.2 4.4 5	Modern Liquid Chromatography and Mass Spectrometry for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation45Wenying JianIntroduction45Liquid Chromatography45Importance of Separation45Basic Principle of LC47Major Modes of LC Used for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation47Modern LC Technologies49HPLC and UHPLC49Miniaturized Column LC502D-LC51Mass Spectrometry51Major Types of MS Used for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation51Ionization Techniques54Ion Mobility54Fragmentation Mode55Emerging MS Techniques56MS Imaging56Other Surface Analysis MS Techniques58Summary and Future Perspectives58Summary and Future Perspectives58References59		
4 4.1 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.4.1 4.2.4.2 4.2.4.3 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.1 4.3.5 4.3.5 4.3.5.1 4.3.5.2 4.4 5	Modern Liquid Chromatography and Mass Spectrometry for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation 45Wenying JianIntroduction 45Liquid Chromatography 45Importance of Separation 45Basic Principle of LC 47Major Modes of LC Used for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation 47Modern LC Technologies 49HPLC and UHPLC 49Miniaturized Column LC 502D-LC 51Mass Spectrometry 51Major Types of MS Used for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation 51Ionization Techniques 54Ion Mobility 54Fragmentation Mode 55Emerging MS Techniques 56MS Imaging 56Other Surface Analysis MS Techniques 58Summary and Future Perspectives 58References 59Comparison Between LC-MS and Ligand-Binding Assay Approaches for Biomarker Quantification 65QingQing Wang, Lili Guo, and Ian A. Blair		

5.1 General Considerations: LBAs or LC–MS Assays 655.2 General Quantification Approaches 66

- 5.3 Analytical Issues Specifically Related to LBAs 67
- 5.3.1 There Is No Sample Pretreatment in Most LBAs 67
- 5.3.2 It Is Hard to Distinguish Biomarkers and Their Variants by LBAs 68
- 5.4 Analytical Features Specifically Related to LC–MS Methods 68
- 5.4.1 Proper Sample Preparation Generates Better Data 69
- 5.4.2 Biomarkers and Their Variants Can Be Distinguished 69
- 5.4.3 Stable Isotope-Labeled Internal Standard Used for Assuring the Assay Accuracy 71
- 5.5 Case Studies: Comparison Between ELISA and LC–MS 72
- 5.5.1 Steroid Analysis 72
- 5.5.2 Apolipoprotein A1 74
- 5.6 Summary and Future Perspective 74 References 74

6 Sample Preparation Methods for Targeted Biomarker Quantification by LC-MS 79

- Shichen Shen, Bo An, and Jun Qu
- 6.1 Introduction 79
- 6.2 Sample Preparation Strategies for Small Molecule Biomarkers 79
- 6.2.1 Primary Issues to Address for Sample Preparation 80
- 6.2.1.1 Matrix Effects 80
- 6.2.1.2 Sensitivity and Selectivity 81
- 6.2.1.3 Selection of Calibration Methods 82
- 6.2.2 Sample Preparation Techniques 82
- 6.2.2.1 Dilute-and-Shoot 82
- 6.2.2.2 Protein Precipitation (PPT) 82
- 6.2.2.3 Liquid–Liquid Extraction (LLE) 82
- 6.2.2.4 Solid-Phase Extraction (SPE) 84
- 6.3 Sample Preparation Strategies for Macromolecule Biomarkers 86
- 6.3.1 Considerations for Sample Preparation 86
- 6.3.1.1 Matrix Effects 86
- 6.3.1.2 Recovery of the Signature Peptide from the Target Analyte 86
- 6.3.1.3 Selection of Calibration Methods 88
- 6.3.1.4 Sensitivity and Selectivity 89
- 6.3.2 Methods for Protein Extraction 89
- 6.3.3 Methods for Protein and Peptide Enrichment 89
- 6.3.3.1 Immunoaffinity Capture (IC) 90
- 6.3.3.2 Sample Fractionation 90
- 6.3.3.3 Depletion of High Abundance Proteins (HAPs) 91
- 6.3.4 Methods for Protein Denaturation, Reduction, and Alkylation 92
- 6.3.5 Methods for Proteolytic Digestion 93
- 6.4 Conclusive Remarks 94
- References 95

7 Overcome the Endogenous Levels in Biomarker Quantitation Using LC–MS 107

- Guowen Liu
- 7.1 Introduction 107
- 7.2 How Does Matrix Effect Affect Quantitation? 108
- 7.3 Commonly Used Strategies 109
- 7.3.1 Authentic Analyte in Authentic Matrix (Standard Addition) 109
- 7.3.2 Surrogate Analyte in Authentic Matrix 109
- 7.3.3 Authentic Analyte in Surrogate Matrix 112
- 7.4 Discussions and Future Perspectives *114*
 - References 115

Part II Challenges and Approaches 119

8 Sample Collection for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation by LC–MS 121

- Yuzhong Deng and Xiaorong Liang
- 8.1 Introduction 121
- 8.2 Timing of Biomarker Sample Collection 121
- 8.3 Matrix Type *122*
- 8.3.1 Serum or Plasma 122
- 8.3.2 Urine 123
- 8.3.3 Tissue 123
- 8.4 Collection Methods *124*
- 8.4.1 Plasma Sample Collection 124
- 8.4.1.1 Anticoagulants 124
- 8.4.1.2 Stabilizing Agents 125
- 8.4.1.3 Temperature and Timing before Initial Processing 126
- 8.4.1.4 Endogenous Degradation 126
- 8.4.2 Urine Sample Collection 127
- 8.4.3 Tissue Sample Collection 128
- 8.5 Sample Storage Stability 128
- 8.5.1 Storage of Blood-Derived Fluids and Urine Samples 128
- 8.5.2 Storage of Tissue Samples 129
- 8.5.3 Freeze/Thaw Effect 129
- 8.6 Summary 129 References 130

9 Nonspecific Binding in LC–MS Bioanalysis 137

- Aimin Tan and John C. Fanaras
- 9.1 Introduction 137
- 9.2 Identification and Evaluation of NSB 137
- 9.2.1 Common Scenarios and Indicators for Potential NSB Issues 137
- 9.2.2 Confirmation/Identification and Evaluation of NSB 138
- 9.2.3 NSB versus Stability Issue 139
- 9.3 Causes for NSB 140
- 9.4 Overcoming NSB Challenges 140
- 9.4.1 Solubilization of Compounds 140
- 9.4.2 Overview of Measures for Overcoming NSB Challenges 141
- 9.4.3 Application Examples 143
- 9.5 Conclusion 144
- References 146

10 Strategies for Improving Sensitivity for Targeted Quantitation by LC–MS 149

- Long Yuan and Qin C. Ji
- 10.1 Introduction 149
- 10.2 Sample Preparation Strategies for Improving Sensitivity 150
- 10.2.1 Protein Precipitation 151
- 10.2.2 Liquid–Liquid Extraction 152
- 10.2.3 Solid-Phase Extraction 153
- 10.2.4 Immunoaffinity Extraction 154
- 10.2.5 Chemical Derivatization 155
- 10.2.6 Online Sample Preparation 155
- 10.3 LC Separation Strategies for Improving Sensitivity 156
- 10.3.1 Optimization of Mobile Phase 156

10.3.2	2D-LC 157	
10.3.3	Low-Flow LC 157	
10.4	MS Detection Strategies for Improving Sensitivity 160	
10.4.1	SRM 160	
10.4.2	High-Resolution Mass Spectrometry (HRMS) 162	
10.4.3	IMS 163	
10.5	Conclusions 163	
	References 163	
11	Strategies to Improve Specificity for Targeted Biomarker Quantitation by LC–MS 1/1	
11 1	Yuan-Qing Xia ana Jerrey D. Miller	
11.1	Introduction 1/1 Differential Mahilita Superturnature 171	
11.2	Lish Desclution Mass Supertransformed 177	
11.5	Graduation Mass Spectrometry 175	
11.4	Conclusions 180	
	References 180	
12	Biomarker Quantitation Using Relative Approaches 183	
	Shane M. Lamos and Katrina E. Wiesner	
12.1	Introduction 183	
12.2	Relative Quantitation Isotope Labeling Approaches 183	
12.2.1	Enzymatic Isotopic Incorporation 183	
12.2.2	Metabolic Isotopic Incorporation 185	
12.2.3	Chemical Labeling (Nonisobaric) 187	
12.2.4	Chemical Labeling (Isobaric) 188	
12.3	Conclusions 191	
	References 192	

Part III Applications 195

13 Targeted Quantification of Amino Acid Biomarkers Using LC-MS 197

- Barry R. Jones, Raymond F. Biondolillo, and John E. Buckholz
- 13.1 Introduction 197
- 13.2 Amino Acids as Biomarkers 198
- 13.2.1 Biomarker of Heart Failure 199
- 13.2.2 Citrulline as Biomarker of Intestinal Failure 199
- 13.2.3 Oncological Biomarkers 200
- 13.2.4 Branched-Chain Amino Acids in Diabetes and Cancer 200
- 13.2.5 Inborn Errors of Metabolism 200
- 13.2.6 Biomarker of Phenylketonuria (PKU) 201
- 13.2.7 Amino Acid Supplementation 201
- 13.3 Methods of Measurement 201
- 13.3.1 LC-MS Considerations for Measurement of 2-Hydroxyglutarate 202
- 13.4 Accuracy, Precision, Selectivity, and Stability Considerations 203
- 13.4.1 Accuracy 203
- 13.4.1.1 Accuracy: Surrogate Matrix 203
- 13.4.1.2 Accuracy: Surrogate Analyte 205
- 13.4.1.3 Surrogate Matrix/Analyte Considerations for Multiplexed Amino Acid Assays 205
- 13.4.2 Precision 206
- 13.4.3 Selectivity 206
- 13.4.4 Stability 207

- **x** Contents
 - 13.5 Assay Design 207
 - 13.6 Conclusion 207
 - References 208
 - 14 Targeted Quantification of Peptide Biomarkers: A Case Study of Amyloid Peptides 211
 - Lieve Dillen, Marc De Meulder, and Tom Verhaeghe
 - 14.1 Overview 211
 - 14.2 Challenges and Approaches 212
 - 14.2.1 Multiply Charged Ions: SRM Versus HRMS 212
 - 14.2.2 Adsorption–Solubility–Stability Aspects 214
 - 14.2.3 Blank Matrix–Internal Standard–Surrogate Analytes 214
 - 14.2.4 Extraction–Sample Pretreatment 215
 - 14.3 Application to the Quantification of Alzheimer's Disease Biomarkers 216
 - 14.3.1 Introduction: Amyloid Peptides in CSF as Biomarkers for Alzheimer's Disease 216
 - 14.3.2 LC-MS/MS Method for Analysis of Amyloid Peptides in CSF in Support of Preclinical Development 216
 - 14.3.3 LC-MS/MS Method for Analysis of Amyloid Peptides in CSF in Support of Clinical Development 217
 - 14.3.4 Comparison of Immunoassay and UHPLC-MS/MS: Are the Results Comparable? 219
 - 14.4 Conclusion 222 References 222

15 Targeted Protein Biomarker Quantitation by LC-MS 227

- Yongle Pang, Chuan Shi, and Wenying Jian
- 15.1 Introduction 227
- 15.2 Sample Preparation for Targeted Protein Biomarker Quantitation 231
- 15.2.1Protein Precipitation232
- 15.2.2 Solid Phase Extraction 232
- 15.2.3 Abundant Protein Depletion 232
- 15.2.4 Affinity Enrichment 233
- 15.3 "Bottom-Up" Approach for Targeted Protein Biomarker Quantitation Using LC-MS 233
- 15.3.1 Surrogate Peptide Selection 233
- 15.3.2 Sample Pretreatment Prior to Proteolytic Digestion 234
- 15.3.3 Proteolytic Digestion 234
- 15.3.4 LC-MS Analysis 235
- 15.4 "Top Down" Approach for Targeted Protein Biomarker Quantitation Using LC-MS 235
- 15.5 Key Considerations in Targeted Protein Biomarker Quantitation Using LC-MS 236
- 15.5.1 Preanalytical Considerations 236
- 15.5.2 Internal Standard 236
- 15.5.3 Reference Standard 237
- 15.5.4 Improving Sensitivity of the Assay 238
- 15.5.5 Improving Throughput of the Assay 238
- 15.5.6 Correlating MS Data with LBA Data 239
- 15.6 Summary and Future Perspectives 239 References 240
- 16 Glycoprotein Biomarkers 245
 - Shuwei Li, Stefani N. Thomas, and Shuang Yang
- 16.1 Introduction 245
- 16.2 Technologies for Glycoprotein Analysis 246
- 16.2.1 Glycoprotein Enrichment 246
- 16.2.1.1 Techniques for the Enrichment of Glycoproteins 246
- 16.2.1.2 Hybrid Chemical Metabolic Labeling 248
- 16.2.2 Glycan Analysis 251
- 16.2.2.1 In-Solution Glycan Analysis 251
- 16.2.2.2 Solid-Phase Glycan Analysis 252

- 16.2.3 Automated Platform for Processing Clinical Specimens 252
- 16.2.4 MS Analysis of Glycoproteins 254
- 16.2.4.1 Bottom-Up Approaches 254
- 16.2.4.2 Top-Down Approaches 254
- 16.2.4.3 MS/MS Fragmentation Methods for Glycopeptides 254
- 16.3 Glycoprotein Biomarker Quantification Using LC-MS 255
- 16.3.1 Quantification by Stable Isotope Labeling 255
- 16.3.2 Metabolic Labeling Strategies 255
- 16.3.3 Label-Free Glycoprotein Quantification 257
- 16.3.4 Methods for Targeted Quantification Using LC-MS/MS 259
- 16.4 Protein Biomarkers for Clinical Applications 259
- 16.4.1 FDA-Approved Glycoprotein Biomarkers 259
- 16.4.2 Classes of Biomarkers 260
- 16.4.3 New Glycoprotein Biomarker Discovery 260
- 16.5 Summary and Future Direction 264 References 265

17 Targeted Lipid Biomarker Quantitation Using Liquid Chromatography–Mass Spectrometry (LC–MS) 273 Ashkan Salamatingur Jan A. Blair, and Clamenting Masaras

- Ashkan Salamatipour, Ian A. Blair, and Clementina Mesaros
- 17.1 Introduction of Lipids 273
- 17.2 LC–MS Analysis of Lipids 276
- 17.3 Examples of LC–MS Analysis of Lipids 278
- 17.3.1 Omega-6-Derived Eicosanoids 278
- 17.3.2 Docosahexaenoic Acid (DHA) 279
- 17.3.3 N-Acylethanolamines (NAEs) and Eicosanoids 281
- 17.3.4 Arachidonic Acid (AA) 282
- 17.4 Summary and Future Directions 283 References 283

18 Targeted LC-MS Quantification of Androgens and Estrogens for Biomarker Development 289

- Daniel Tamae
- 18.1 Introduction 289
- 18.1.1 History of Estrogen and Androgen Quantification 289
- 18.1.2 Androgen Biosynthesis and Metabolism 290
- 18.1.3 Estrogen Biosynthesis and Metabolism 290
- 18.2 Current Considerations in Biomarker Validation 292
- 18.3 Current Considerations in LC–MS Method Development 293
- 18.3.1 Chromatography 293
- 18.3.2 Direct Detection Methods 293
- 18.3.3 Derivatization Strategies 294
- 18.3.4 Stable Isotope Standards 295
- 18.3.5 Hydrolysis of Conjugated Steroids 296
- 18.4 Clinical Application of LC–MS Quantification of Estrogens and Androgens 296
- 18.4.1 Reference Ranges of Estrogens and Androgens 296
- 18.4.2 Estrogens in Postmenopausal Women and Low Androgens in Aging Men 297
- 18.4.3 Estrogens and Breast Cancer 297
- 18.4.4 Androgens and Prostate Cancer 298
- 18.5 Conclusion and Perspective 301 References 301
- **19 Steroid Biomarkers** 307
- Mike (Qingtao) Huang, Shefali Patel, and Zhongping (John) Lin
- 19.1 Introduction 307
- 19.2 Sterols as Endogenous Biomarkers and Their Quantitation 307

- xii Contents
 - 19.2.1 4β-OHC as a P450 3A4/5 Endogenous Biomarker 307
 - 19.2.2 Quantitation of 4β-OHC in Human and Animal Species 310
 - 19.2.3 24S-OHC and 27-OHC as Biomarkers 311
 - 19.2.4 Quantitation of 24S-OHC and 27-OHC 312
 - 19.3 Cortisol and 6 β-Hydroxycortisol (6β-HC) as Biomarkers and Their Quantitation 312
 - 19.3.1 Cortisol and 6β -HC as Biomarkers *312*
 - 19.3.2 Measurement of Cortisol and 6β-HC 313
 - 19.3.2.1 Measurement of Cortisol in Serum 313
 - 19.3.2.2 Measurement of Cortisol and 6β-HC in Urine 314
 - 19.3.2.3 Measurement of Cortisol in Saliva and Hair 315
 - 19.4 Summary 316 References 316

20 Bile Acids as Biomarkers 321

Clara John, Philipp Werner, Joerg Heeren, and Markus Fischer

- 20.1 Introduction 321
- 20.2 Analytical Platform for Bile Acids 323
- 20.3 Summary 327
- References 327

21 Biomarkers for Vitamin Status and Deficiency: LC-MS Based Approach 331

Stanley (Weihua) Zhang and Jonathan Crowther

- 21.1 Introduction to Vitamin and Vitamin Deficiency 331
- 21.2 Detection of Vitamin D by LC-MS/MS and Comparison with Other Methods 332
- 21.2.1 Vitamin D and Vitamin D Deficiency 332
- 21.2.2 Target the Right Metabolites 332
- 21.2.3 Analytical Challenges 332
- 21.2.4 History of Vitamin D Quantification Assays 333
- 21.2.5 Quantification of 25(OH)D by LC-MS/MS 334
- 21.2.5.1 Considerations in Assay Development and Validation 334
- 21.2.5.2 Sample Preparation 335
- 21.2.5.3 LC-MS/MS 335
- 21.2.5.4 Method Comparison and Standardization 336
- 21.3 Other Vitamin Biomarkers 338
- 21.3.1 Retinol: Biomarkers of Vitamin A Status and Deficiency 338
- 21.3.2 Folic Acid: Biomarkers for Vitamin B9 Dietary Intake 339
- 21.3.3 Vitamin C: An Appropriate Biomarker of Vitamin C Intake 340
- 21.4 Conclusions and Perspectives *340* References *341*

22 Quantitation of Acyl-Coenzyme A Thioesters as Metabolic Biomarkers 347

- Nathaniel Snyder
- 22.1 Introduction 347
- 22.2 Structure and Function of Acyl-CoAs 347
- 22.3 Detection and Quantitation of Acyl-CoAs 349
- 22.4 Acyl-CoA Analysis for Current Drug Targets 352
- 22.5 Acyl-CoAs as Biomarkers in Metabolic Disease 352
- 22.6 The Involvement of Acyl-CoAs in Drug Metabolism 353 References 353
- 23 Neurotransmitter Biomarkers 357
- Guodong Zhang
- 23.1 Introduction 357

- 23.2 Chromatographic Platforms of Biological Measurement for Neurotransmitters 358
- 23.2.1 Challenges for Neurotransmitter Measurement 358
- 23.2.2 LBA, LC, GC, and CE 358
- 23.2.3 LC-MS/MS 359
- 23.3 Bioanalytical Methodologies 359
- 23.3.1 Sample Preparation Strategies 359
- 23.3.2 Sensitivity and Chromatography Enhancement by Chemical Derivatization Using LC-MS/MS 362
- 23.3.3 Chromatographic Strategies for LC-MS/MS Assays 362
- 23.3.4 NTs Stability and Sample Collection 363
- 23.3.5 Case Studies *367*
- 23.4 Conclusion 367 References 367
- 24 Targeted Quantification of Carbohydrate Biomarkers Using LC–MS 371
- Cong Wei and Hong Gao
- 24.1 Introduction 371
- 24.2 Overview 371
- 24.2.1 Clinical Diagnostic Carbohydrate Biomarkers 371
- 24.2.2 Overview of Bioanalytical Analysis of Carbohydrate Biomarker 372
- 24.3 Bioanalytical Method Development for Carbohydrate Biomarkers 374
- 24.3.1 Sample Preparation 374
- 24.3.1.1 Sample Preparation by Solid-Phase Extraction (SPE) 374
- 24.3.1.2 Sample Preparation by Liquid–Liquid Extraction (LLE) 376
- 24.3.1.3 Sample Preparation by Derivatization 378
- 24.3.1.4 Sample Preparation by Enzymatic Digestion or Chemical Reduction 378
- 24.3.2 Chromatography and Column Options 380
- 24.3.2.1 HILIC for LC-MS/MS Bioanalysis 381
- 24.3.2.2 Porous Graphic Hypercarb Chromatography for LC–MS/MS Bioanalysis 381
- 24.3.2.3 Reversed-Phase Chromatography for LC-MS/MS Bioanalysis 382
- 24.3.2.4 Reversed-Phase Ion-Pair Chromatography for LC-MS Bioanalysis 382
- 24.3.3 LC-MS/MS Analysis 383
- 24.4 Conclusions 384 References 384

25 Nucleoside/Nucleotide Biomarkers 389

Guodong Zhang

- 25.1 Introduction 389
- 25.2 Chromatographic Platforms for Nucleosides/Nucleotides 390
- 25.2.1 Challenges for Nucleosides and Nucleotides Measurement 390
- 25.2.2 Conventional Immunoassays, CE, GC and HPLC 390
- 25.2.3 LC-MS/MS 391
- 25.3 Bioanalytical Methodologies 391
- 25.3.1 Sample Preparation Strategies 391
- 25.3.2 Chromatographic Strategies for LC–MS/MS Assays 394
- 25.4 Nucleoside/Nucleotide Biomarkers and Case Studies 398
- 25.5 Conclusion 399 References 402

26 LC–MS of RNA Biomarkers 407

- Michael G. Bartlett, Babak Basiri, and Ning Li
- 26.1 Introduction 407
- 26.2 Role in Disease and Therapeutics 408
- 26.3 Role of Mass Spectrometry in RNA Biomarkers 409

xiv Contents

- 26.4 LC–MS Approaches for RNA Determination 411
- 26.4.1 Sample Preparation 411
- 26.4.2 Ion-Pair Chromatography 413
- 26.4.3 Capillary Chromatography 414
- 26.4.4 Liquid Chromatography–Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectrometry 415
- 26.5 Case Studies 415
- 26.5.1 Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms as Biomarkers 415
- 26.5.2 Small Interfering RNA Determination 416
- 26.5.3 MicroRNA Determination 416 References 418

Index 425

List of Contributors

Bo An

Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences School of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences Buffalo, NY USA *and* New York State Center of Excellence in Bioinformatics and Life Sciences Buffalo, NY USA

Ray Bakhtiar

Teva Branded Pharmaceutical Products R&D, Inc. West Chester, PA USA

Michael G. Bartlett

Department of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Sciences University of Georgia Athens, GA USA

Babak Basiri

Department of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Sciences University of Georgia Athens, GA USA

Raymond F. Biondolillo

Q2 Solutions Ithaca, NY USA

Ian A. Blair

Center of Excellence in Environmental Toxicology and Penn SRP Center, Perelman School of Medicine University of Pennsylvania Philadelphia, PA USA

John E. Buckholz

Q2 Solutions Ithaca, NY USA

Jonathan Crowther

Ortho Clinical Diagnostics Material and Process Services Raritan, NJ USA

Marc De Meulder

Pharmacokinetics-Dynamics and Metabolism, Regulated Development Bioanalysis Janssen Research & Development, a Division of Janssen Pharmaceutica NV Beerse Belgium

Yuzhong Deng

Drug Metabolism and Pharmacokinetics Genentech South San Francisco, CA USA

Lieve Dillen

Pharmacokinetics-Dynamics and Metabolism, Regulated Development Bioanalysis Janssen Research & Development, a Division of Janssen Pharmaceutica NV Beerse Belgium

John C. Fanaras

Nucro-Technics Scarborough, Ontario Canada

Markus Fischer

University of Hamburg, Hamburg School of Food Science Hamburg Germany

Hong Gao

Drug Metabolism & Pharmacokinetics Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated Boston, MA USA xvi List of Contributors

Lili Guo

Center of Excellence in Environmental Toxicology and Penn SRP Center, Perelman School of Medicine University of Pennsylvania Philadelphia, PA USA

Joerg Heeren

University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf (UKE), Institute of Biochemistry and Molecular Cell Biology Hamburg Germany

Mike (Qingtao) Huang

Clinical Pharmacology Akros Pharma Inc. Princeton, NJ USA

Qin C. Ji Bioanalytical Sciences Bristol-Myers Squibb Co. Princeton, NJ USA

Wenying Jian

Bioanalytical & Pharmacokinetics Janssen Research & Development, LLC Spring House, PA USA

Clara John

University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf (UKE), Institute of Biochemistry and Molecular Cell Biology Hamburg Germany

Barry R. Jones

Q2 Solutions Ithaca, NY USA

Shane M. Lamos

Department of Chemistry Saint Michael's College Colchester, VT USA

Ning Li

Department of Pharmaceutical Analysis, School of Pharmacy Shenyang Pharmaceutical University Shenyang China

Shuwei Li

Institute for Bioscience and Biotechnology Research University of Maryland College Park Rockville, MD USA

Xiaorong Liang

Drug Metabolism and Pharmacokinetics Genentech South San Francisco, CA USA

Zhongping (John) Lin

Bioanalytical and Biologics Services Frontage Laboratories Exton, PA USA

Guowen Liu

DMPK, Agios Pharmaceuticals Cambridge, MA USA

Clementina Mesaros

Penn SRP and Center for Excellence in Environmental Toxicology, Department of Systems Pharmacology and Translational Therapeutics University of Pennsylvania Philadelphia, PA USA

Jeffrey D. Miller

Sciex Framingham, MA USA

Yongle Pang

Department of Chemistry Michigan State University East Lansing, MI USA

Shefali Patel

Bioanalytical & Pharmacokinetics Janssen Research & Development, LLC Spring House, PA USA

Jun Qu

Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences School of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences Buffalo, NY USA *and* New York State Center of Excellence in Bioinformatics and Life Sciences Buffalo, NY USA

Ashkan Salamatipour

Penn SRP and Center for Excellence in Environmental Toxicology, Department of Systems Pharmacology and Translational Therapeutics University of Pennsylvania Philadelphia, PA USA

Shichen Shen

Department of Biochemistry Jacobs School of Medicine and Biomedical Sciences, University at Buffalo, State University of New York Buffalo, NY USA *and* New York State Center of Excellence in Bioinformatics and Life Sciences Buffalo, NY USA

Chuan Shi Case Western Reserve University Cleveland, OH USA

Nathaniel Snyder

A.J. Drexel Autism Institute Drexel University Philadelphia, PA USA

Daniel Tamae

Department of Systems Pharmacology and Translational Therapeutics Center of Excellence in Environmental Toxicology, Perelman School of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania Philadelphia, PA USA *and* Current address: Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry California State University Northridge, CA USA

Aimin Tan Bioanalytical Laboratory Nucro-Technics Scarborough, Ontario Canada

Stefani N. Thomas

Department of Pathology, School of Medicine Johns Hopkins University Baltimore, MD USA

Tom Verhaeghe

Pharmacokinetics-Dynamics and Metabolism, Regulated Development Bioanalysis Janssen Research & Development, a Division of Janssen Pharmaceutica NV Beerse Belgium

QingQing Wang

Center of Excellence in Environmental Toxicology and Penn SRP Center, Perelman School of Medicine University of Pennsylvania Philadelphia, PA USA

Cong Wei

Drug Metabolism & Pharmacokinetics Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated Boston, MA USA

Naidong Weng

Bioanalytical & Pharmacokinetics Janssen Research & Development, LLC Spring House, PA USA

Philipp Werner

University of Hamburg, Hamburg School of Food Science Hamburg Germany

Katrina E. Wiesner

Department of Chemistry Saint Michael's College Colchester, VT USA

Yuan-Qing Xia

Sciex Framingham, MA USA

Shuang Yang Department of Pathology, School of Medicine Johns Hopkins University Baltimore, MD USA *and* Current address: Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research, Office of Vaccine Research and Review, Laboratory of Bacterial Polysaccharides Vaccine Structure Group FDA Ellicott City, MD USA

Long Yuan

Bioanalytical Sciences Bristol-Myers Squibb Co. Princeton, NJ USA

Guodong Zhang

Bioanalytical and Biomarker Development Shire Lexington, MA USA

Stanley (Weihua) Zhang

Ortho Clinical Diagnostics Material and Process Services Raritan, NJ USA *and* Current address: Merck Manufacturing Division Global Vaccine & Biologics Commercialization West Point, PA USA

Preface

Biomarker has been increasingly playing a significant role in drug discovery and development. Its application ranges from target and candidate selection and refinement in discovery to safety and efficacy evaluation in drug development and to patient stratification and market differentiation at late phase development and post market. With the assistance of ever-improving mass spectrometry in conjunction with liquid chromatography, assays for new and novel biomarkers, some of which at very low levels, are being developed and validated for being applied in abovementioned areas. At mean time, regulatory bodies such as the FDA have increased their drug approval evaluation using information driven by biomarkers. Yet, assay establishment for biomarkers remains to be a daunting task, partially due to the fact that biomarkers inherently are endogenous analytes, and therefore the existing assay validation guidance, albeit very useful for drug candidates, is less straightforward for the biomarkers, partially due to the lack of thorough understanding of the relationship between a target biomarker and its usage in decision making.

A comprehensive bioanalytical overview on quantitative liquid chromatography with mass spectrometric detection (LC–MS) analysis of biomarkers appropriate to the drug discovery/development stage and usage of biomarkers as discussed in this book is timely needed in the industry. For a given biomarker that can play pivotal role in drug discovery and development go-no-go decision, the bioanalytical assay needs to be appropriately established to meet both the regulatory and scientific rigor. It is the hope that this book will illustrate this concept using real-life examples.

This book contains 26 chapters that are divided into three parts. Part 1 (Chapters 1–7) provides an overview of quantitative bioanalysis of biomarkers using LC–MS. Chapter 1 provides an overall introduction of targeted quantitation of biomarkers and its application, and Chapter 2 describes the role of biomarker in drug discovery and development, with emphasis on clinical application. In Chapter 3, a thorough review of current regulatory landscape on biomarker quantitation and industrial practices on biomarker method validation/ qualification strategy is discussed. Important considerations in biomarker analysis method development and assay establishment are discussed in detail in Chapters 4-6. Chapter 4 introduces modern LC-MS on bioanalysis with emphasis on state-of-art mass spectrometry and liquid chromatography for targeted biomarker quantitation. Chapter 5 compares the advantages and disadvantages of LC-MS-based biomarker quantitation with traditional ligand binding assays. Sample preparation is probably the most important parameter for a successful biomarker assay establishment. Review and contrast of the sample preparation strategies and challenges for biomarkers and the different sample preparation procedures for various types of biomarkers (small molecules, peptides, and proteins) are the subject of Chapter 6. Several practical and successful approaches are discussed in Chapter 7, in particular, the surrogate matrix versus surrogate analyte approaches. Preanalytical consideration is pivotally important for the successful biomarker assay establishment.

Part 2 (Chapters 8-12) presents the challenges of bioanalysis quantitation and approaches to overcome those challenges. As biomarkers are endogenous compounds, they present unique challenges to appropriately establish assay parameters that are usually prescribed to drug candidates. Study design to maximize the opportunity to observe biomarker changes including sample collection, stability, circadian rhythm, etc. is extensively discussed in Chapter 8. Biomarker analyte loss due to nonspecific adsorption to the container is a frequently observed phenomenon, and Chapter 9 is specifically designed to address this issue. Another fundamental challenge for biomarker measurement is the lack of assay sensitivity. Strategies for improving sensitivity using novel strategy such as immunoaffinity extraction, derivatization, etc. are the subjects for Chapter 10. Strategy to address assay specificity, fundamentally a difficult task due to the endogenous nature of the biomarkers, is covered in Chapter 11. One of the aims of this book is also to leverage technologies that are already used in other disciplines such as proteomics. Chapter 12 certainly bridges this by presenting novel quantitative strategy of using heavy and light labeled derivatives for the relative quantitation of biomarkers.

Part 3 (Chapters 13-26) focuses on in-depth discussion of different types of biomarkers and demonstrates case studies for their targeted quantitation using LC-MS. The first four chapters focus on biomarkers related to amino acids, peptides, proteins, and glycoproteins (Chapters 13-16). Quantitative measurement of amino acids in biological matrices can yield important information into disease identification and monitoring, treatment efficacy, and overall improvement of human health. Chapter 13 offers guidance to ensure optimal assay characteristics such as accuracy, precision, and selectivity for LC-MS quantitation of amino acid biomarkers. In Chapter 14, targeted quantification of peptide biomarkers and a case study of amyloid peptides are presented. Aspects on important issues related to biomarker assays such as adsorption, solubility, and stability are discussed in detail. Chapter 15 focuses on proteins, one of the most important types of biomarkers, and analytical approaches using signature peptide following enzymatic digestion of the proteins (bottom-up) and direct analysis of whole (intact) proteins without enzymatic digestion (top-down) are the subjects of this chapter. Key aspects in assay establishment such as sample preparation, use of internal standards, assay sensitivity and throughput, etc. are also discussed. Chapter 16 reviews recent technological advances related to glycoproteomics and glycomics biomarker analyses. Glycosylation is one of the most common protein modifications that could alter protein function and lead to various physiological and pathological consequences.

Part 3 continues with review and case studies of another class of important biomarkers related to lipid structures such as lipids (Chapter 17), hormones (Chapter 18), sterols (Chapter 19), bile acids (Chapter 20), and vitamins (Chapter 21). Chapter 17 focuses on targeted LC-MS methods for measuring class I lipids-the fatty acyls in biological samples-and the various methodologies presented in this chapter demonstrate the recent advancement in the field of lipidomics and allow for more efficient quantitation and monitoring of lipid metabolites. Chapter 18 describes the targeted LC-MS quantification of androgens and estrogens for biomarker development for hormone-dependent tumors such as that of the breast and prostate. Chapter 19 mainly focuses on the current discussions of some of the glucocorticoids and sterols as biomarkers and their corresponding bioanalysis by LC–MS, in particular 4β-hydroxycholesterol, a potential P450 3A4/5 endogenous biomarker. Since bile acids play a role for the development and for the therapy of certain metabolic diseases, Chapter 20 discusses the importance of having access to an appropriate analytical platform to adequately quantify cholesterol and bile acids species. Chapter 21 reviews vitamins as biomarkers for vitamin status and deficiency. It focuses on vitamin D, not only because its deficiency is a worldwide problem but also because that there are multiple competing quantification methodologies besides LC–MS. The diversity in assay methods as well as high variability in measurements has caused controversy and confusion in clinical testing.

Part 3 concludes with review and case studies of other important biomarkers with diversified structures such as acyl-coenzyme A thioesters (Chapter 22), neurotransmitters (Chapter 23), carbohydrates (Chapter 24), nucleotides/nucleosides (Chapter 25), and oligonucleotides (Chapter 26). Chapter 22 discusses the structure and function of acyl-coenzyme A thioesters, provides an overview of the LC-MS-based methods of quantifying acyl-coenzyme A thioesters, and gives specific examples of the analysis of acyl-coenzyme A thioesters as biomarkers for current drug targets, metabolic diseases, and drug metabolism. Chapter 23 discusses the recent LC-MS methodologies developed for the measurement of neurotransmitters, which combine optimized sample preparation, chemical derivatization, and chromatographic conditions. They enable more sensitive and specific measurement of neurotransmitters in low concentration ranges, with reproducibility, high throughput, and short run time. Chapter 24 discusses the critical role of targeted LC-MS methods for quantitative analysis of carbohydrates from biological fluids. Optimal assay conditions require careful consideration of sample extraction, chromatography, and mass spectrometric detection. Chapter 25 is an informative source for LC-MS assays for the measurement of nucleoside/ nucleotide biomarkers in biological samples and how to overcome challenges related to the determination of nucleosides/nucleotides due to their low abundance, high polarity, and serious matrix interferences. Chapter 26 focuses on LC-MS of oligonucleotides, which is highly challenging. Due to the highly polar nature of oligonucleotides, ion pair chromatography is typically used to enhance retention time. Various sample preparation methods may be tried to select the optimal condition.

We believe that our mission of providing a practical and bioanalytical focused book on LC–MS quantitation of endogenous biomarkers is accomplished. This book demonstrates practically how LC–MS analysis for biomarkers should be executed with great consideration of important assay parameters ranging from sample collection to assay qualification, stability assessment, regulatory knowledge, one can confidently establish assays suitable for the purpose of the study. This book is only possible because of the commitment and diligence of all the authors of the book chapters. We would like to sincerely acknowledge them for their dedication and sacrifice. Kudos also go to our colleagues from Pharmacokinetics, Dynamics and Metabolism at Janssen Research & Development for their generous support and enthusiastic discussion of various topics in this

book. We would also like to thank the family members

of ours for their understanding and support as much of the editing work occurs in the evening and weekends. Finally, we would like to thank the editorial staff at John Wiley & Sons and give a special acknowledgement to Bob Esposito, Michael Leventhal, Anumita Gupta, Beryl Mesiadhas, Vishnu Narayanan, and Shalisha Sukanya Sam of the Wiley publisher/editor team for their continuous support of this book.

> Naidong Weng, Ph.D. Wenying Jian, Ph.D.

Abbreviations

1,5-AG	1,5-Anhydro-D-glucitol		
24S-OHC	24S-Hydroxycholesterol		
27-OHC	27-Hydroxycholesterol		
2D-LC	Two-dimensional liquid chromatography		
2HG	2-Hydroxyglutarate		
4α-OHC	4α-Hydroxycholesterol		
4β-OHC	4β-Hydroxycholesterol		
6β-HC	6β-Hydroxycortisol		
ĂĂ	Abiraterone acetate		
AA	Ascorbic acid		
AA	Arachidonic acid		
AAPS	American Association of Pharmaceutical Scientists		
ACC	Acetyl-CoA carboxylase		
ACh	Acetylcholine		
AChE	Acetylcholinesterase		
ACR	Acute cellular rejection		
AD	Alzheimer's disease		
ADMA	Asymmetric dimethylarginine		
ADME	Absorption, distribution, metabolism. and excretion		
ADP	Adenosine-5'-diphosphate		
AEs	Adverse effects		
AIDS	Immunodeficiency diseases		
AKI	Acute kidney injury		
ALT	Alanine transaminase		
AMI	Acute myocardial infarction		
AML	Acute myeloid leukemia		
AMP	Adenosine-5'-monophosphate		
APCI	Atmospheric pressure chemical ionization		
APP	Amyloid precursor protein		
APPI	Atmospheric pressure photoionization		
AQL	Above quantitation limit		
AQUA	Absolute quantification		
ARDS	Acute respiratory distress syndrome		
ARG-1	Arginase		
AST	Aspartate transaminase		
ATP	Adenosine-5'-triphosphate		
BA	Bile acid		
BA	Benzoic acid		
BAAT	Bile acid-CoA:amino acid N-acyltransferase		
BCAAs	Branched-chain amino acids (valine, leucine, and isoleucine)		
BDNF	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor		

BE	Bioequivalence	
BLAs	Biologics license applications	
BNP	Brain natriuretic peptide	
BQP	Biomarker Qualification Program	
BQRT	Biomarker Qualification Review Team	
BSA	Bovine serum albumin	
BTA	Bladder tumor-associated antigen	
BUN	Blood urea nitrogen	
CAA	Cancer-associated antigens	
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine-3',5'-monophosphate	
CBA	Conjugated bile acid	
CBQC	COPD Biomarkers Qualification Consortium	
CDMS	Clinically definite multiple sclerosis	
CDx	Companion diagnostics	
CDX2	Caudal-type homeobox transcription factor 2	
CE	Capillary electrophoresis	
CE	Collision energy	
CEA	Carcinoembryonic antigen	
CEC	Capillary electrochromatography	
CF	Cystic fibrosis	
cGMP	Cyclic guanosine-3′,5′-monophosphate	
CHAPS	3-[(3-Cholamidopropyl) dimethylammonio]-1-propanesulfonate	
CHI3L1	Chitinase-3-like protein 1	
CI	Chemical ionization	
CI	Calcium ionophore	
cICAT	Cleavable ICAT	
CID	Collision-induced dissociation	
CIS	Clinically isolated syndrome	
CKD	Chronic kidney disease	
CKs	Cytokeratins	
CLIA	Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments	
CLIA	Chemiluminescent immunoassay	
CMS	Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services	
CNS	Central nervous system	
CoA	Coenzyme A	
COPD	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	
COU	Context-of-use	
COXs	Cyclooxygenases	
CPI	Critical path initiative	
CRC	Colorectal cancer	
CROs	Contract research organizations	
CRP	C-reactive protein	
CSC	Cell surface capturing	
CSF	Cerebrospinal fluid	
CSP	Chiral stationary phase	
CTC	Circulating tumor cell	
CTLA-4	Cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen-4	
cTnI	Cardiac troponins I	
cTnT	Cardiac troponins T	
CTP	Cytidine-5'-triphosphate	
CV	Coefficients of variation	
CVD	Cardiovascular disease	
СҮР	Cytochrome	
CZE	Capillary zone electrophoresis	

D-2HG	D-enantiomer of 2-hydroxyglutarate	
DA	Dopamine	
DART	Direct analysis in real time	
DBEMM	Dibenzyl ethoxymethylene malonate	
DBS	Dried blood spot	
DDI	Drug–drug interaction	
DDTs	Drug development tools	
DEEMM	Diethyl ethoxymethylenemalonate	
DEOAS	Vitamin D External Quality Assessment Scheme	
DESI	Desorption electrospray ionization	
DEX	Dexamethasone	
DHA	Docosahexaenoic acid	
DHAA	Dehvdroascorbic acid	
DHEA	Dehvdroepiandrosterone	
DHETs	Dihydroxyeicosatrienoic acids	
DHT	5α-dihvdrotestosterone	
DIART	Deuterium isobaric amine reactive tag	
DMF	Dimethylformamide	
DMN	Dimethylnitrosamine	
DMS	Differential mobility spectrometry	
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide	
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid	
DTIMS	Drift-time ion-mobility spectrometry	
DTT	Dithiothreitol	
E.	Estrone	
E ₁	Estradiol	
E2 FRF	Furopean Bioanalytical Forum	
ECAPCI_MS	Electron canture atmospheric pressure chemical ionization mass spectrometry	
FCD	Electron-capture dissociation	
FDCs	Endocrine-disrupting chemicals	
FDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid	
FFG	Flectroencenhalography	
FFTs	Encyreicosatrienoic acids	
EGER	Epidermal growth factor receptor	
FI	Flectron ionization	
FIC	Extracted ion chromatogram	
FLISA	Enzyme_linked immunosorbent assay	
EMA	European Medicines Agency	
ENCODE	Encyclopedia of DNA Elements	
ENCAM	Entryclopedia of DIVA Elements Enithelial cell adhesion molecule	
FDI	Enhanced product ion spectra	
FRHIC	Electrostatic repulsion by drophilic interaction chromatography	
FSI	Electrospray ionization	
ESR1	Estrogen recentor	
ETD	Electron transfer dissociation	
FΔ	Electron-transfer dissociation	
FA	Fatty acid	
	Fatty acid	
	Facty acyss	
	Forfine actu	
	Fotty acid synthese	
EACD	Fatty actu syllulase Filtor aidad sample proparation	
EDA	Finer-and sample preparation	
rda Eev	Forced expirate we volume in 1 g	
rrv ₁	rorced expiratory volume in 18	

FFDFT	Township find a sufficiency builded the
	Formalin-fixed, parafilin-embedded tissue
FIA	o El a de la della
Fmoc-Cl	9-Fluorenyimethoxycarbonyi chloride
FIICK	Fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance
FXK	Farnesold X receptor
G3DH	Glucose-3-dehydroxidase
GABA	Gamma-amino butyric acid
GAGs	Glycosaminoglycans
GALNS	N-acetylgalactosamine-6-sulfatase
GBC	Global Bioanalytical Consortium
GBM	Glioblastoma multiforme
GCC	Global CRO Council for Bioanalysis
GCCs	Glucocorticoids
GC–MS	Gas chromatography in conjunction with MS
GDF-8	Growth and differentiation factor 8
GFR	Glomerular filtration rate
GIG	Glycoprotein immobilization for glycan extraction
GIP	Insulinotropic polypeptide
GirP	Girard's reagent P
GirT	Girard's reagent T
GlcHb	Glycated hemoglobin
GLDH	Glutamate dehydrogenase
GLP	Good laboratory practices
GLP-1	Glucagon-like peptide 1
GP-IS	Guanidinated protein as analog IS
gRNA	Guide RNAs
GSH	Glutathione
GST	Glutathione-S-transferase
GTP	Guanosine-5'-triphosphate
HA	Histamine
HbA1c	Hemoglobin A1c
HCD	Higher energy collisional dissociation
HDoHE	DHA hydroxide
HER2	Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2
HETEs	Hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acids
HGF	Hepatocyte growth factor
HIC	Hydrophobic interaction chromatography
HILIC	Hydrophilic interaction chromatography
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
HMG-CoA	3-hydroxymethyl-3-glutyryl-CoA
НРАА	Hypothalamus–pituitary–adrenal axis
HpDoHE	Hydroperoxide
HPETEs	Hydroperoxyeicosatetraenoic acids
HRMS	High-resolution MS
IA	Invasive aspergillosis
IA	Immunoassav
IAF	Immunoaffinity extraction
IRCE	Isobutyl chloroformate
ICATe	Isotone-coded affinity tags
ICPI	Isotope-coded protein label
IDA	Information-dependent acquisition
IFC	Information-acpendent acquisition
IFF	Isoalactric focusing
11-1	isocicculic locusilig

IgG	Immunoglobulin G	
IGOT	Isotope-coded glycosylation-site-specific tagging	
IHC	Immunohistochemistry	
IL-6	Interleukin 6	
IL-8	Interleukin 8	
IL-21	Interleukin 21	
IL-18	Interleukin 18	
IMAC	Immobilized metal affinity chromatography	
IMER	Immobilized enzymatic reactor	
IMS	Ion mobility MS	
IND	Investigational new drug	
iPSC	Induced pluripotent stem cells	
IO	Innovation and quality	
IS	Internal standard	
IsoTaC	Isotope targeted glycoproteomics	
TPAO	Isobaric tags for relative and absolute quantification	
	International Union of Duro and Applied Chamistry	
IUPAC	International Onion of Pure and Applied Chemistry	
	<i>IN VILTO</i> diagnostic	
KIM-1	Kidney injury molecule	
LBA	Ligand-Dinding assay	
LC-MS	Liquid chromatography in conjunction with mass spectrometric detection	
LDH	Lactate dehydrogenase	
L-DOPA	Levodopa	
LDTs	Laboratory-developed tests	
LIMS	Laboratory information management system	
lincRNA	Long intervening noncoding RNAs	
LLE	Liquid–liquid extraction	
LLME	Liquid–liquid microextraction	
LLOQ	Low limit of quantitation	
LMAN2	Lectin mannose binding 2	
lncRNAs	Long noncoding RNAs	
LOD	Limit of detection	
LOI	Letter of intention	
LOQ	Limit of quantification	
LOXs	Lipoxygenases	
Lp-PLA2	Lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2	
LTs	Leukotrienes	
LVEF	Left ventricular ejection fraction	
LXR	Liver X receptor	
MALDI-MSI	Matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization mass spectrometry imaging	
MAP	Microtubule-associated protein	
MBDD	Model-based drug development	
MDH	Malate dehydrogenase	
MEPS	Microextraction by packed sorbent	
MGMT	O^{6} -methylguanine DNA-methyltransferase	
MHPG	3-Methoxy-4-hydroxyphenylethylene glycol	
miRNAs	MicroRNAs	
MMA	Mono-methylarginine	
MMP9	Matrix metallopeptidase 9	
MoAs	Mechanism of actions	
MPA	Metaphosphoric acid	
MPO	Myeloperoxidase	
MPS	Mucopolysaccharidosis	
MR	Metabolic ratio	

MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging	
MRM	Multiple reaction mode	
mRNA	Messenger RNA	
MS	Mass spectrometry	
MSI	MS imaging	
MSIA	Mass spectrometric immunoassay	
MUGA	Radionuclide ventriculogram	
NaCIO	Sodium hypochlorite	
NAD^+	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide	
NADP ⁺	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate	
NAEs	<i>N</i> -acylethanolamines	
NAFLD	Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease	
NASH	Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis	
NCDs	Non-communicable diseases	
ncRNA	Noncoding RNAs	
NDAs	New drug applications	
NGAL	Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin	
NGF	Nerve growth factor	
NIH	National Institutes of Health	
NIST	National Institute of Standards and Technology	
NMP22	Nuclear matrix protein	
NO	Nitric oxide	
NOS	Nitric oxide synthase	
NPLC	Normal-phase liquid chromatography	
NSAIDs	Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs	
NSB	Nonspecific binding	
NSCLC	Non-small cell lung cancer	
NSTEMI	Non ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction	
NTCP	Sodium-dependent sodium-taurocholate cotransport polypeptide	
NTs	Neurotransmitters	
nUHPLC	Nanoflow UHPLC	
NUMA1	Nuclear mitotic apparatus protein	
OATP	Organic anion transporting proteins	
OCBs	Oligoclonal bands	
ORNG	Oxidative release of natural glycans	
OXM	Oxyntomodulin	
PAD	Pulsed amperometric detector	
PAGE	Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis	
PBMC	Peripheral blood mononuclear cells	
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline	
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction	
PCSK9	Proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9	
PD	Parkinson's disease	
PD-1	Programmed death-1	
PET	Positron emission tomography	
PFB	Pentafluorobenzyl	
PFP	Pentafluorophenyl	
PGD	Prostaglandin D2	
PGE	Prostaglandin E2	
PGFor	Prostaglandin $F_{2}\alpha$	
PGR	Progesterone recentor	
PGs	Prostaglandins	
niRNAs	piwi-interacting RNAs	
PK/PD	Pharmacokinetics/pharmacodynamics	

PKU	Phenylketonuria	
PLE	Pressurized liquid extraction	
PMA	Premarket approval application	
POC	Point of care	
PPT	Protein precipitation	
PRA	Plasma renin activity	
PRM	Parallel reaction monitoring	
PSA	Prostate-specific antigen	
PSA-ACT	PSA bound to α 1-antichymotrypsin	
pSILAC	Pulsed SILAC	
PTGS	Prostaglandin-endoperoxide synthase	
PTMs	Posttranslational modifications	
PUFAs	Polyunsaturated fatty acids	
OconCat	Quantification concatamer	
OCs .	Ouality control samples	
aPCR	Quantitative polymerase chain reaction	
OUEST	Ouantitation using enhanced signal tags	
OWBA	Quantitative whole-body autoradiography	
RA	Rheumatoid arthritis	
RAAS	Renin–angiotensin–aldosterone system	
RAM	Restricted-access material	
RBC	Red blood cell	
RCTs	Randomized clinical trials	
RF	Response factor	
rhTRAIL	Recombinant human TNF-related apoptosis inducing ligand	
RIAs	Radioimmunoassavs	
RISC	RNA-induced silencing complex	
RNA	Ribonucleic acid	
RO	Receptor occupancy	
ROC	Receiver operating characteristic	
ROS	Reactive oxygen species	
RPLC	Reversed-phase liquid chromatography	
RT-PCR	Reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction	
S/N	Signal/noise ratio	
SALLE	Salt-assisted liquid-liquid extraction	
SBSE	Stir har sorptive extraction	
SBT	Small bowel transplantations	
SCC	Squamous cell carcinoma	
SCID	Severe combined immunodeficiency diseases	
SCr	Serum creatinine	
SCX	Strong cation exchange	
SDRS	Sodium dodecylbenzenesulfonate	
SDMA	Symmetric dimethylarginine	
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis	
SEC	Size exclusion chromatography	
SERD	Selective estrogen recentor degrader	
SETI	Sunflower trypsin inhibitor	
SID	Stable isotone dilution	
SIL	Stable isotope labeled	
SILAC	Stable isotope labeling with amino acids in cell culture	
SILAP	Stable isotope labeling proteomics	
SIMS	Secondary ion mass spectrometry	
siRNAs	Small interfering RNAs	
SISCAPA	Stable isotope standards and capture by anti-peptide antibodies	

SLE	Solid-supported liquid extraction	
snoRNA	Small nucleolar RNAs	
SNPs	Single nucleotide polymorphisms	
SOD	Surfactant-aided precipitation/on-pellet digestion	
SOPs	Standard of operations	
SPD	Selective peptide derivatization	
SP-D	Surfactant protein D	
SPE	Solid-phase extraction	
SPECT	Single-photon emission computed tomography	
SPEG	Solid-phase extraction of glycopeptides	
SPME	Solid-phase microextraction	
SPs	Signature peptides (surrogate peptides)	
SRM	Selected reaction monitoring	
sTREM-1	Soluble triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 1	
SULTs	Sulfotransferases	
suPAR	Soluble urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor	
SWATH	Sequential window acquisition of all theoretical	
Т	Testosterone	
T2DM	Type 2 diabetes	
TAPS	Total androgen pathway suppression	
TBV	Total blood volume	
TCA	Tricarboxylic acid cycle	
TCA	Taurocholic acid	
TCA	Trichloroacetic acid	
TCEP	Tris(2-carboxyethyl)phosphine	
TFE	Trifluoroethanol	
TIMP-1	Tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinase-1	
TKV	Total kidney volume	
TLC	Thin-layer chromatography	
ТМ	Translational medicine	
TMS	Trimethylsilyl	
TMT	Tandem mass tag	
TOF	Time of flight	
TOSIL	Tandem ^{18}O stable isotope labeling	
TP63	p63 Protein	
Trage	Regulatory T cells	
Tris	Tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane	
TRLs	Triglyceride (TG)-rich lipoproteins	
TWIMS	Traveling-wave ion mobility spectrometry	
TXs	Thromboxanes	
UBA	Unconjugated bile acid	
UGTs	Uridine diphosphate glucuronosyltransferases	
UPLC-MS/MS	Ultra-performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry	
UTP	Uridine-5'-trinhosnhate	
VDBP	Vitamin D-binding protein	
VEGE	Vascular endothelial growth factor	
VMA	Vanillylmandelic acid (3-Methoxy-4-hydroxymandelic acid)	
VPA	Valproic acid	
WRIB	Workshop on recent issues in bioanalysis	
	, or one of recent looked in proundry bio	

Part I

Overview

1

Overview of Targeted Quantitation of Biomarkers and Its Applications

Naidong Weng

Bioanalytical & Pharmacokinetics, Janssen Research & Development, LLC, Spring House, PA, USA

1.1 Introduction

In the last two decades, utilization of biomarkers in drug discovery and development has seen rapid growth as a result of the advancement of laboratory techniques and bioanalytical assays including ligand-binding assays (LBA) such as enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR), and mass spectrometry (MS)-based technologies, and so on (Anderson and Kodukula, 2014). Currently, pharmaceutical companies and regulatory authorities are actively engaged in developing robust efficacy and safety biomarkers that can be used in a translational manner to assist drug development by making the right choice for "go" and "no-go" decisions at the earliest possible stage. In order to most efficiently utilize the resources and maximize the benefits of biomarker research, most of the drug companies have established internal biomarker research centers and are also pursuing extensive collaborations with academia, hospitals, and research institutes. A biomarker can assist target and candidate selection in drug discovery, toxicity assessment, dose selection, and pharmacokinetics (PK)/pharmacodynamics (PD) modeling in drug development. In clinical Phase I-IV, a biomarker can help in patient stratification, drug-drug interaction (DDI) evaluation, efficacy assessment, safety monitoring, and companion diagnosis as well as postapproval surveillance. Biomarkers measured in patients before treatment can also be used to select patients for inclusion in a clinical trial. Changes in biomarkers following treatment may predict or identify safety problems related to a candidate drug or reveal a pharmacological activity that is expected to predict an eventual benefit from treatment. Biomarkers can also be used as diagnostic tools for the identification of population with an underlying disease and its progressive stage.

In fact, most of the drug programs in development stages have requirements of biomarkers to be incorporated in the preclinical and clinical development strategy as they can help ensure safety and efficacy of the drug candidates. Indeed, it has been reported that the ability of biomarkers to improve treatment and reduce healthcare costs is potentially greater than in any other area of current medical research (Drucker and Krapfenbauer, 2013). A search of one major clinical trial registry on December 5, 2015 (https://ClinicalTrials.gov), using the search term "biomarker," generated 17,366 results, almost twofold increases, compared to what had been previously reported 5 years ago (Boulton and Dally, 2010). Less than a year late (November 8, 2016), this number is 19,611.

More specifically, biomarkers have demonstrated the added values to every major disease area. For example, in oncology, with the growth in numbers of targeted therapies for oncology clinical testing, biomarkers are often used to select patient population (Arteaga, 2003). Biomarkers can also allow investigators to stratify patients for prospective or retrospective evaluation of different clinical responses and for identification of specific responder sub-population (Mendelsohn and Baselga, 2003). A previous publication also proposed optimizing oncology drug development by using a tiered set of clinical biomarkers that predict compound efficacy with increasing confidences as well as increasing rigor of validation at each of the three levels (Floyd and McShane, 2004). Level-1 biomarkers confirm biochemical or pharmacological mechanism of action by showing that the drug is modulating its target and provides correlation of PD and PK, which is the exposure of the drug and its active metabolites. Level-2 biomarkers confirm that the drug is producing a desired PD effect directly related to its potential for efficacy such as altered downstream cell signaling in pathways related to target, decreased metabolic activity,

or changes in tumor vascular perfusion. Level-3 biomarkers have predictive power for a desired outcome and may be surrogate end points for in vivo symptoms, such as tumor size. It should be noted that even with the extensive research by many scientists over the last decades, very few biomarkers, that can be measured in the laboratory, qualify for Level-3 biomarkers. Of course, this type of categorization of biomarkers can also be applied to other disease areas. Almost all of the biomarkers discussed in this book belong to the first two levels.

For Type 2 diabetes (T2DM), it was estimated that, in 2010, 285 million people had been diagnosed with diabetes mellitus worldwide, a prevalence of 6.4% of the total population. This is predicted to increase to 439 million (7.7% of total population), and by 2030, T2DM will account for about 90% of diabetic patients worldwide (Shaw et al., 2010). Biomarker search has lead to several promising biomarkers such as Chitinase-3-like protein 1 (CHI3L1) also known as YKL-40, soluble CD36 (cluster of differentiation 36), leptin, resistin, interleukin 18 (IL-18), retinol-binding protein 4 (RBP4), and chemerin that could be indicative for the pathogenesis of insulin resistance and endothelial dysfunction in T2DM patients (Qhadijah et al., 2013). In another paper (Lyons and Basu, 2012), it was postulated that in blood, hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) may be considered as a biomarker for the presence and severity of hyperglycemia, implying diabetes or prediabetes.

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is an irreversible, progressive brain disorder that slowly destroys memory and thinking skills, and eventually the ability to carry out the simplest tasks. In most people with AD, symptoms first appear in their mid-60s. Estimates vary, but experts suggest that more than five million Americans may have AD (https:// www.nia.nih.gov/alzheimers/publication/alzheimersdisease-fact-sheet). There is significant interest in the development of methods to validate novel biomarkers for diagnosis of AD. Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) levels of β -amyloid A β 1–40 and A β 1–42 peptides, total Tau protein, and phosphorylated Tau protein have diagnostic values in AD (Chintamaneni and Bhaskar, 2012). Tau protein is a highly soluble microtubule-associated protein (MAP). In humans, these proteins are found mostly in neurons compared to non-neuronal cells. Tau protein and phosphorylated Tau protein are measured by using ELISA (Herrmann et al., 1999). Liquid chromatography in conjunction with mass spectrometric detection (LC-MS)-based assays have also been published for measuring β -amyloid A β 1–40 and A β 1–42 peptides in CSF (Choi et al., 2013). A systematic review and metaanalysis of the literature on whether or not CSF total tau, phosphorylated tau, and β -amyloid A β 1–42 peptide help predict progression of mild cognitive impairment to AD was conducted (Diniz et al., 2008).

1.2 Biomarker Definition

It is generally accepted in the pharmaceutical industry that a biological marker or a biomarker is a characteristic that is objectively measured and evaluated as an indicator of normal biologic processes, pathologic processes, or biological responses to a therapeutic intervention (Biomarkers Definitions Working Group, 2001). Biomarkers are typically classified into diagnostic, prognostic, and predictive biomarkers. Biomarker definition and usage are summarized in Appendix II of the Guidance for Industry and FDA Staff (Qualification Process Working Group, 2014).

A *diagnostic* biomarker is a disease characteristic that categorizes a person by the presence or absence of a specific physiological or pathophysiological state or disease.

A *prognostic* biomarker is a baseline characteristic that categorizes patients by degree of risk for disease occurrence or progression of a specific aspect of a disease.

A *predictive* biomarker is a baseline characteristic that categorizes patients by their likelihood of response to a particular treatment relative to no treatment.

In pharmaceutical industry research and development (R&D), biomarkers can also be described as efficacy or safety biomarkers. Division of common biomarkers into these two categories is probably better linked with the drug discovery and development process as deficiency in safety or efficacy is the major reason for termination of drug candidates. Efficacy biomarkers emphasize on mode of action and can be used to build early confidence in drug mechanism and can potentially substitute for clinical symptoms as a measurement of efficacy. Safety biomarkers are early markers of reversible or irreversible drug-induced adverse events and can be used to understand the mechanism of drug-induced toxicity.

An emerging area of extensive research is to use endogenous biomarkers to predict potential cytochrome P450 or transporter-mediated DDI. They can be used to assess changes in drug metabolism and transport phenotype due to intrinsic and extrinsic factors. The benefits of endogenous DDI biomarkers include better PK/PD correlation due to samples collected at multiple time points; resource sparing because it is a secondary objective in a Phase I clinical study; its applicability to studies in all population; its early signal for metabolic liability without conducting a separate clinical DDI study using exogenous drugs, such as midazolam, as probes.

It is very hard to identify and validate a good DDI biomarker. This process takes a lot of research and verification as well as extensive collaboration from multiple institutes, hospitals, and consortia to confirm the initial finding. For example, bioanalysis of 4β -hydroxycholesterol in human plasma is currently being proposed by Innovation and Quality (IQ) consortium as a potential

Collection	 Easy to collect at the sampling site and present in peripheral body fluids such as blood, urine, salvia, sputum, or CSF 	
Quantitation	 Easy to quantify these biomarkers and have a specific, sensitive, and robust bioanalytical method with demonstrated stability during sample collection, shipping, storage, and analysis phases 	
Specificity	 Mainly formed via one pathway instead of multiple path ways; it should correctly identify a high proportion of true negative rate 	
Stability	 Relatively stable at basal level and not subject to large fluctuation due to food, diurnal variations, etc. 	
Sensitivity	 Sensitive to the biological end point and relatively rapid change upon dosing the investigational drug; it should correctly identify a high proportion of true positive rate 	

Figure 1.1 Features of ideal endogenous biomarkers on aspects of sample collection, quantitation, specificity, stability, and sensitivity.

endogenous biomarker for CYP3A4 induction (Aubry et al., 2016) even though the initial observation was made a decade ago (Bodin et al., 2001).

Ideal endogenous biomarkers including DDI biomarkers should possess the following features on sample collection, quantitation, specificity, stability, and sensitivity (Figure 1.1). Using 4β -hydroxycholesterol as an example, this biomarker meets essentially all of these features when used as a probe for CYP3A4 induction studies. The long half-life of 4β-hydroxycholesterol results in small variations in concentrations but excludes this marker in short-term studies. On the other hand, 6β-hydroxycortisol/cortisol ratio in urine, another frequently used endogenous biomarker for CYP3A4 inducer, is a more rapid biomarker due to short half-life with little delay time behind the changes of CYP3A4 activity in vivo. However, the short half-life and diurnal effect lead to more variable data, even with the correction in cortisol concentration (Dutreix et al., 2014).

1.3 Current Challenges of a Biomarker

The ultimate goal for a biomarker is the establishment of clinical utility that guides patient care, but attempts to reach this goal must be preceded by analytical and clinical validation of the "locked-down" biomarker assay. Even though endogenous biomarkers could become a valuable tool to assess liability early in drug development, nevertheless, out of thousands of biomarkers discovered through metabolomics and proteomics approaches, only a few dozens were found to be useful in assessing efficacy and toxicity of the drug candidates. The drugs may have an impact on multiple pathways of endogenous biomarkers' disposition and formation, and how to extrapolate a biomarker from healthy volunteers to patient population can also be a challenge (Drucker and Krapfenbauer, 2013).

Major challenges regarding integrated and harmonized processes, spanning preanalytical, analytical, and postanalytical phases of development remain (de Gramont et al., 2015). During biomarker development, robust laboratory methodology is essential at all analytical phases. Lack in biomarker characterization and validation by using robust analytical techniques, which is a lengthy process requiring careful planning and execution of assay development and validation, have been attributed to be major reasons. Problems with the collection, equipment, or transportation of specimens to the laboratory can affect the measurement of the biomarker. Improper storage of samples or changes in storage environment can also affect measurement of biomarkers (Mayeux, 2004).

1.4 Biomarker Validation Process

Over the last a few decades, drug discovery and development have been driven, in all therapeutic areas, by the pharmaceutical companies to become more productive and to launch more products onto the market in a costeffective manner. Even with much investment in genomics, proteomics, metabolomics, and other "omics," the approved rate of New Drug Applications (NDAs) remains relatively flat. Majority of compounds entering clinical trials fail and many new approved products have significant labeling restrictions. In 2004, FDA's Critical Path Initiative (CPI) recognized that the process of drug development and the availability of new therapies were not fully benefitting from the many advances in biomedical science. In addition, drug development had become increasingly challenging and resource intensive. An important area identified by the CPI as potentially enabling significant progress in drug development was applying those scientific advances as new tools to aid the development process. Such tools could speed the availability of new products that may be safe and effective. FDA has undertaken multiple initiatives to support the development of new drug development tools (DDTs). Among these efforts has been the creation of a formal qualification process that FDA can use when working with submitters of DDTs to guide development as submitters refine the tools and rigorously evaluate them for use in the regulatory process. Because of the tremendous potential of biomarker utilization, it has been listed. along with clinical outcome assessments, and animal models, as the established qualification programs under DDT guidance.

The European Medicines Agency (EMA) also pays close attention to research in the use of biomarkers in the development of medicines. In August 2014, EMA issued a draft concept paper outlining the key elements to be developed in a guideline on good genomics biomarker practices. This is expected to facilitate the use of genomic data for the development of the so-called "personalized medicines," the safety monitoring of medicines, and the early diagnosis of disease.

Value of biomarker measurement that can characterize baseline state, a disease process, or a response to a treatment is well recognized by both agencies. A Joint FDA/ EMA Letter of Intention (LOI) submission for biomarkers and clinical outcome assessment qualification programs was issued. Parallel submissions for qualification of biomarkers to both agencies are encouraged and both FDA and EMA will share their scientific perspective, advice, and response letters for the submission. With the joint LOI, the agencies intend to reduce the time taken by applicants to prepare LOIs. A joint EMA/FDA report on kidney injury was issued and a number of biomarkers including albumin, β2-microglobulin, clusterin, cystatin C, kidney injury molecule 1 (KIM-1), total protein, and trefoil factor-3 were recommended. Discussion on biomarkers for oncology and AD were also extensively researched. For example, β-amyloid 42 and total Tau protein in CSF were recommended as useful biomarkers by EMA. For drug-induced cardiotoxicity biomarkers in preclinical studies, cardiac troponins T (cTnT) and I (cTnI) in serum/plasma were proposed as biomarkers. In 2015, three clinical biomarkers were proposed by FDA: Fibrinogen in plasma as a prognostic biomarker for enrichment of clinical trials in chronic obstruction pulmonary disease (COPD); an imaging biomarker measuring total kidney volume (TKV) as the prognostic biomarker for enrichment of clinical trials in autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease; and galactomannan as a serum/bronchoalveolar lavage fluid biomarker for patient selection for enrollment in invasive aspergillosis (IA) clinical trials.

1.5 Current Regulatory Requirement for Target Biomarker Quantitation

Biomarkers were typically discovered via metabolomics, proteomics, system biology, or their combinations. Bioanalytical assay development and validation will be used to support retrospective pilot and prospective pilot studies. The bioanalytical assays which play pivotal roles to support all phases of biomarker validation and "lockdown" for clinical usage should have the appropriate quality to allow good, robust, and data-driven scientific decision to be made. Sensitivity analysis is then performed to find the specificity of the biomarker to the biological end point. Finally, a well-designed and controlled validation study is conducted to finally confirm the utility of the biomarker. In these two late phases, well-established bioanalytical assays play even more significant roles since the assay performance can impact not only the outcome of the sensitivity test but also the numbers of subjects and samples that have to be used to establish utility of the biomarkers. A well-established bioanalytical assay with excellent robustness and precision is essential for biomarkers, especially when its level of change from predose to postdose is small.

Currently, fit-for-purpose assay establishment was proposed for biomarker assays (Lee et al., 2006). In brief, fit-for-purpose biomarker assay validation can be separated in four continuous iterative activities (Figure 1.2). This approach was then endorsed and adapted by both the regulatory authorities (Booth, 2011; Valeri et al., 2013) and other industrial organizations such as European Bioanalytical Forum (EBF) (Timmerman et al.,



Figure 1.2 Four continuous iterative activities of fit-for-purpose biomarker assay validation.

2012) and Global CRO Council for Bioanalysis (GCC) (Hougton et al., 2012).

In general, as drug development proceeds through the typical phases, the level of validation needed increases accordingly. There is no mention of biomarkers in the EMA bioanalytical assay validation guideline. FDA's recent inclusion of biomarkers in the 2013 draft bioanalytical method validation guidance indicates that biomarkers are used for safety, efficacy, and patient selection and treatment; therefore, the data for these compounds are as important as PK data for a new drug. Method validation should be fit-for-purpose based on the objectives of the study. The level of risk for pre-Phase I studies is different from the level of risk during Phase II; therefore, method validation requirements should be modified accordingly. When deciding how much validation is required, the analyte development platform should be considered, as well as the purpose of the assay.

1.6 Challenges of Biomarker Quantitation

Biomarker quantitation can be quite challenging. One main reason is that most biomarkers are dealing with detecting diseases or toxicities in humans and animals with very low concentration level of proteins or metabolites among thousands of other proteins and metabolites. A blank biological matrix contains the analytes of interest, which makes it difficult to find clean matrices. Circadian rhythm, food intake, and emotional state may affect the biomarker level and data interpretation (Jian et al., 2012). Specificity of the assay needs to be carefully confirmed since the in vivo system tends to generate multiple isomers which may interfere with quantitation. Sensitivity of detecting a very low level of biomarkers can be also problematic. Selection of assay platforms can definitely have impact on the biomarker validity. For example, when ApoA1 biomarkers were measured using LC–MS and ELISA for the same set of samples, LC–MS data indicated there was a significant difference between smokers and nonsmokers while the ELISA failed to reveal this difference (Wang et al., 2015).

Stability of biomarkers during sample collection, storage, and analysis has significant impact on the data quality and needs to be established. A lack of consistency in sample collection and storage can invalidate a study before any data can be collected. Figure 1.3 demonstrates an example that pseudostability of biomarker fatty acid amides in blood is observed due to two opposite forces: release of fatty acid amides from red blood cells and their degradation in the blood. It was only uncovered by carefully investigating the results obtained from incurred samples and from fortified quality control samples. Otherwise, a misleading sample collection procedure would be used (Jian et al., 2010).

Many biomarkers tend to stick to the surface of containers during collection, storage, and sample processing, and this nonspecific adsorption loss needs to



Figure 1.3 Pseudostability of biomarker fatty acid amides in blood due to two opposite forces: release of fatty acid amides from red blood cells (RBC) and degradation in the blood.

be carefully examined, resolved, or mitigated. Since there is no true blank matrix, strategy of construction of calibration standards and quality control samples should also be carefully formulated, using surrogate versus authentic matrix or surrogate versus authentic analyte (Ongay et al., 2014). A surrogate matrix is prepared using artificially prepared buffer solution containing usually a small amount of proteins to mimic the authentic matrix without the presence of the biomarker. A surrogate analyte is a stable-isotope labeled analyte that can be used to construct the analytical calibration curve even below the endogenous level of the biomarkers, thus making it feasible to quantify low level endogenous biomarkers. In order to compensate for the assay variability caused by incomplete extraction recovery and ionization suppression/enhancement from matrix components, internal standard is usually used, which is fortified to the sample in a quantitative manner at the earliest step of sample processing. The use of stable isotope labeled internal standard, which has almost identical physical and chemical properties as the biomarker analytes, provides the highest analytical specificity possible for quantitative biomarker determinations. The use of appropriate protein standards in LC-MS assays is critically important and is an active area of research within the field of protein biomarkers (Ciccimaro and Blair, 2010).

In a bioanalytical laboratory, the time used for developing a robust bioanalytical method for biomarker measurement is typically two to threefolds higher than the time used for establishing bioanalytical assay for a drug candidate.

1.7 Current Technologies for Biomarker Quantitation

1.7.1 LC-MS

Analysis of biomarkers by LC-MS has seen rapid increase in the last decade. Current advances of chromatographic stationary phases and applications of LC-MS for biomarker research were reviewed in literature (Cummings et al., 2009; Denoroy et al., 2013; Chappell et al., 2014). The advantages and applications of LC-MS for biomarker analysis are well covered in the following chapters of this book. Small molecule biomarkers can be usually analyzed directly without derivatization or with derivatization to enhance their detectability (e.g., 4-B hydroxylcholesterol) (Barnaby et al., 2015; Niwa et al., 2015; Zhu et al., 2015). Aided by the highly sensitive mass spectrometry instrument, more efficient LC, and better understanding of sample preparation, it is not unusual to achieve sub ng/mL sensitivity of measurement for many types of small molecule biomarkers (Houghton et al., 2009).

On the large molecule side, significant progress is also being made to establish robust bioanalytical assays for measuring biomarkers (Berna et al., 2008; Ackermann, 2009; Palandra et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2014). However, even with rapid progress on innovative sample clean-up procedure such as immunoaffinity capture, nano- and microflow LC for more efficient ionization, and various enzymatic digestion procedures to generate surrogate peptides, current LC-MS still lags behind on sensitivity for the measurement of many protein biomarkers by ELISA and in particular RNA/DNA biomarkers by qPCR, especially on the intact level. In the foreseeable future, it can be anticipated that LC-MS will play a complementary role for the ELISA of protein biomarkers and qPCR of RNA/DNA biomarkers. It is important to note that using different analytical methods, different conclusions may be drawn, as already discussed previously for ApoA1, a potential endogenous biomarker for cardiovascular diseases. When ApoA1 was measured by LC-MS, there was a statistically significant difference between smokers and nonsmokers while the ELISA assay for the same set of samples did not indicate that (Wang et al., 2015).

1.7.2 GC-MS

Gas chromatography in conjunction with MS (GC–MS), which predated LC–MS, offers some unique advantages for measuring small molecule biomarkers. GC typically provides higher resolution power than LC. Excellent resolution of the biomarker of interest from its interference peaks was achieved with an extremely sharp peak (Zimmermann and Jackson, 2010). A metabolomic study of biomarkers associated with dimethylnitrosamine (DMN)-induced hepatic fibrosis in Sprague– Dawley rats was performed using GC–MS (Ju et al., 2013). This high chromatographic resolution power can come handy when chromatographic resolution of isobaric isomers of a biomarker is needed. GC–MS can also be more sensitive than LC–MS for some biomarkers. Although most biomarkers would need a derivatization step to make them volatile and suitable for GC–MS analysis, some volatile biomarkers can be analyzed directly without derivatization.

1.7.3 Ligand-Binding Assay

A typical LBA utilizes an analyte-specific binder (typically antibody but may include other binders such as binding protein, drug, target protein, or receptor) to capture the analyte of interest. The captured analyte is detected by the "detector molecule" which is generally an antibody labeled with a radioisotope (e.g., ¹²⁵I), an enzyme (e.g., horseradish peroxidase, alkaline phosphatase), or another label (e.g., biotin, avidin). ELISA, the most commonly used LBA, generally uses a detector molecule that is labeled with an enzyme. The extent of enzyme activity is measured by the changes in color (or fluorescence) intensity of the substrate solution. The color intensity is directly proportional to the concentration of analyte captured on the microtiter plate.

LBA is extremely sensitive and is currently still the method of choice for large molecule biomarkers such as proteins (Sloan et al., 2012). LBA also has higher throughput than LC-MS analysis. On the other hand, developing a suitable antibody can be tedious and careful control of assay parameters such as critical reagents and parallelism is very important (Stevenson, 2012; Stevenson and Purushothama, 2014). Due to the nature of indirect measurements in LBA, the results are somewhat less precise than chromatographic assays. Due to the limited analyte-binding capacity of the binder molecule (e.g., capture antibody), the typical calibration curves in these assays are nonlinear, as opposed to the linear curves in chromatographic assays. Consequently, the range of quantification in an LBA is narrower than in the linear curves of chromatographic assays. The resulting high concentration of biomarkers in the study samples may require sample dilutions. The other potential drawback of LBA is potential lack of selectivity due to cross-reactivity of the capturing antibodies with multiple compounds in the matrix.

1.7.4 Flow Cytometry

Microparticle-based flow cytometric assays for determination of biomarkers has gained tractions over the last decade (Wu et al., 2010). A large number of analytes can be measured on these multiplex systems simultaneously (Vignali, 2000). The technology utilizes microspheres as the solid support for a conventional immunoassay, affinity assay, or DNA hybridization assay which are subsequently analyzed on a flow cytometer, although the initial setup can be time consuming and expensive.

1.7.5 Quantitative PCR (qPCR)

qPCR is a powerful and sensitive gene analysis technique and it measures PCR amplification as it occurs. Typically, a qPCR program consists of a series of 20 to 40 repeated temperature changes, called cycles, with each cycle commonly consisting of two to three discrete temperature steps, usually three (e.g., 94-96°C for denaturation, ~68°C for annealing, and 72°C for elongation). qPCR is extremely sensitive (sub pg/mL range) and has become the gold standard for measuring DNA and RNA including both drugs and biomarkers in biological fluids (Wang et al., 2013a, 2013b; Wang and Ji, 2016). A reverse transcript step is needed to convert RNA into a complementary DNA template, which is then amplified with real-time detection of florescence. During amplification, a fluorescent dye binds, either directly or indirectly via a labeled hybridizing probe, to the accumulating DNA molecules, and fluorescence values are recorded during each cycle of the amplification process. The fluorescence signal is directly proportional to DNA concentration over a broad range, and the linear correlation between PCR product and fluorescence intensity is used to calculate the amount of template present at the beginning of the reaction. However, it suffers from low specificity and low accuracy/precision (up to $\pm 50\%$) as well as high reagent costs.

1.8 Current Biomarker Quantitation Applications

Many applications of biomarker quantitation have been reported in literature. It is not possible to have a comprehensive review in this chapter. In the following chapters of this book, a more detailed discussion of various types of biomarkers is provided. Some representative examples using various technologies discussed in the previous section are illustrated here.

1.8.1 Protein Biomarkers

Proteins are very diverse and therefore potentially informative as biomarkers. Challenges for developing new protein-based biomarkers include the complexity of protein composition in blood, the diversity of posttranslational modifications, the low relative abundance of many proteins of interest, the sequence variations among different clinically relevant species, and most importantly, the difficulties in developing suitable high sensitivity bioanalytical assays. Discovery and development of new protein-based biomarkers with proper characteristics is an expensive and time-consuming task. ELISA has been traditionally employed for protein biomarker measurement (DeSilva et al., 2003; Lee, 2009; Valentina et al., 2011). ELISA assay is very sensitive but may suffer from cross-reactivity of similar endogenous proteins.

Acute kidney injury (AKI) has been defined as a rapid decline in glomerular filtration rate. Diagnosis of AKI is frequently based on measurements of blood urea nitrogen (BUN). BUN and serum creatinine, another commonly used biomarker for AKI, are not very specific or sensitive for the diagnosis of AKI because they are affected by many renal and nonrenal factors that are independent of kidney injury or kidney function. Urinary kidney injury molecule (KIM-1) is proposed as a sensitive quantitative biomarker for early detection of kidney tubular injury (Han et al., 2002; Mussap et al., 2014). A validated sandwich ELISA assay for measuring KIM-1 in urine was reported (Chaturvedi et al., 2009). Linearity, intra-run precision, inter-run precision, lower limit of quantification, recovery, dilution verification, reference range, stability, and length of run were established. The low limit of quantitation (LLOQ) is 59 pg/mL.

CHI3L1, also known as YKL-40, a member of family 18 glycosyl hydrolases, is secreted by cancer cells. YKL-40 was determined by ELISA in plasma samples from 73 patients with relapse of ovarian cancer shortly before start of second-line chemotherapy. Plasma YKL-40 was increased in ovarian cancer patients (median 94 µg/L, range 20–1970 µg/L) compared with age-matched controls (33 µg/L, range 20–130 µg/L) (p < 0.001). High plasma YKL-40 is related to short survival in patients with recurrent ovarian cancer (Dehn et al., 2003). Plasma YKL-40 was also identified as an obesity-independent marker of type 2 diabetes related to fasting plasma glucose and plasma IL-6 levels (Nielsen et al., 2008).

Protein biomarkers can also be measured by LC–MS either in intact protein form (top-down) or by unique surrogate peptide generated after enzymatic digestion (bottom-up) (Liebler and Zimmerman, 2013; Percy et al., 2014). The enzyme digestion condition and selection of appropriate internal standards can have significant impact on the assay quality (Bronsema et al., 2013). The top-down approach usually uses high-resolution MS such as time of flight (TOF) MS while the bottom-up approach uses traditional multiple reaction mode (MRM). Oftentimes, immunoaffinity extraction using antibody of the target analyte is used to improve the assay selectivity and sensitivity (Carr and Anderson, 2008; Wang et al., 2012). Further selectivity/sensitivity enhancement can be achieved using dual immunoaffinity capturing procedure as in the example of quantifying interleukin 21 (IL-21) (Palandra et al., 2013). An immunoaffinity LC–MS assay for quantification IL-21 in human and cynomolgus monkey serum was developed. The workflow includes offline enrichment of IL-21 using an anti-IL-21 capture antibody, followed by trypsin digestion, online enrichment of IL-21 derived tryptic peptides using antipeptide antibodies, and quantification using nanoflow LC–MS.

Apolipoproteins are high abundance serum proteins situated on the surface of lipoprotein particles that transport highly hydrophobic lipids. Current evidence suggests that ApoA-1 is a potential diagnostic biomarker for coronary heart disease risk (Rader and Hovingh, 2014). Furthermore, the risk of coronary heart disease is strongly associated with increased adiposity, which can be further increased by smoking behavior (Slagter et al., 2013). A stable isotope dilution LC-MS method for serum ApoA-1 was developed and validated. Full validation was performed by employing nine tryptic peptides generated from native ApoA-1 in order to maximize coverage of the endogenous ApoA-1 protein. Recombinant ApoA-1 internal standard was prepared by stable isotope labeling with amino acids in cell culture (SILAC) by using $[{}^{13}C_6 {}^{15}N_2]$ -lysine and $[{}^{13}C_9 {}^{15}N_1]$ -tyrosine (Wang et al., 2015).

Apolipoprotein C3 (ApoC3) is one of many plasma glycoproteins which have been extensively studied for potential utility as disease biomarkers. ApoC3 is a 79amino acid protein synthesized by liver and intestine. ApoC-3 has a critical role in the metabolism of triglyceride (TG)-rich lipoproteins (TRLs) (Norata et al., 2015). Previously, an LC-MS assay using a solid-phase extraction (SPE) method for the plasma sample preparation was published. This "top-down" approach provided intact analysis of ApoC3 glycoisoforms and potential for data mining, and high-resolution MS afforded excellent specificity. The assay was also applied to analysis of plasma samples collected from normal, prediabetic, and diabetic subjects for preliminary evaluation of the biomarker potential of ApoC3 glycoisoforms for early diagnosis of diabetes. The results showed that there was a significant difference among the different groups (Jian et al., 2013).

1.8.2 Peptide Biomarkers

Peptides can be an important class of biomarkers. Traditionally, peptide biomarkers in biological samples have mostly been analyzed by immunoassay methods. Similar to protein biomarkers, cross-reactivity with structurally related peptides prevents selectivity. The combination of a separation technique such as micro/ nano-HPLC with a detection method as MS is a very selective and sensitive approach and permits the simultaneous analysis of a great number of peptides (Saz and Marina, 2008).

The 40- and 42-amino acid residue forms of β -amyloid (A β 1–40 and A β 1–42) in CSF have been proposed as potential biomarkers of AD (Whiley and Legido-Quigley, 2011). In 2006, an immunoaffinity purification and LC–MS assay was developed for analysis of amyloids in CSF (Oe et al., 2006). In another report, a mixed-mode SPE method and an ultra-performance liquid chromatogra-phy tandem mass spectrometry (UPLC–MS/MS) assay was developed for the simultaneous quantitation of A β 1–38, A β 1–40, and A β 1–42 from human CSF (Lame et al., 2011). Analysis of A β peptides in plasma has its own methodological challenges, including binding to plasma proteins and carryover of analytes from previous injections when using LC (Goda and Kobayashi, 2012).

There is also a substantial evidence that β -amyloid peptide is oxidized in vivo, which has led to the suggestion that oxidative stress might be an important mediator of AD. Trypsin digestion of both native and oxidized A β 1–16 and A β 1–40 resulted in the formation of tryptic peptides corresponding to native and oxidized A β 6–16, which could be separated by LC. Sites of oxidation were then unequivocally characterized as histidine-13 and histidine-14 by LC–MS analysis of the tryptic peptides (Inoue et al., 2006).

1.8.3 RNA Biomarkers

Micro RNAs (miRNAs) are small noncoding RNAs found in eukaryotic organisms that regulate gene expression. Dismissed as "junk" until about a decade ago, it is now widely accepted that they play an important functional role in a wide array of cellular processes. miRNAs play important regulatory roles in many cellular processes, including differentiation, neoplastic transformation, and cell replication and regeneration. Many studies have demonstrated that dysregulation of these miRNAs is associated with various diseases suggesting there is potential for use of miRNAs in diagnosis and treatment. Arguably, secreted miRNAs have many requisite features of good biomarkers. They are stable in various bodily fluids, the sequences of most miRNAs are conserved among different species, the expression of some miRNAs is specific to tissues or biological stages, and the level of miR-NAs can be easily assessed by various methods, including methods such as PCR, which allows for signal amplification. Much of the study of miRNA and disease has focused on cancer and neurological disorders (Ju, 2010). A number of bioanalytical challenges exist for the analysis of miRNAs in biological fluids as very nicely summarized by Wang and Ji (2016) and by Basiri and Bartlett (2014). While the PCR and hybridization ELISA give the best sensitivity, LC-MS shows promise to be the next generation analyzer for this type of molecules due to its sensitivity for small oligonucleotides (<25-mer), broader dynamic range (up to 3 orders of magnitude), no need for specific reagent, and the capability to quantify intact double-stranded oligonucleotides (siRNA) and their metabolites.

1.8.4 Nucleotide Biomarkers

Plasma concentrations of nucleotides such as AMP, ADP, and ATP provide information on their relative physiological importance in regulatory mechanisms and therefore could be useful biomarkers. Analytical approaches of determining AMP, ADP, and ATP in biological samples have been proven challenging due to their high polar nature. Zhang et al. discussed a novel, fast, highly sensitive, selective, and validated ion-pairing hydrophilic interaction chromatography (HILIC)–MS method utilizing diethylamine (DEA) and hexafluoro-2-isopropanol (HFIP) in the mobile phase and an aminopropyl chromatographic column (Zhang et al., 2014).

1.8.5 Small Molecule Biomarkers

One of the great promises of the metabolomics approach is the fact that groups of metabolite biomarkers are expected to be less species-dependent than gene or protein markers, facilitating the direct comparison of animal models with human studies, which in turn improves the potential of the technique to rapidly convert laboratorybased research into clinical practice (Barr et al., 2010). Typically, LC–MS-based technologies are used for small molecule biomarker analysis. Challenges of analyzing small molecule biomarkers include separation of isobaric position isomers which have identical molecule weight to the analyte of interest, poor retention due to extremely polar nature, poor sensitivity due to lack of favorable ionization function groups, and poor stability. Derivatization strategy has been frequently used to enhance sensitivity and selectivity (Meyer et al., 2011). Novel chromatographic stationary phase such as HILIC can be used to enhance the retention and thus the sensitivity of polar biomarkers (Weng, 2001; Jian et al., 2011; Li et al., 2012). Care should also be exercised to prevent introducing artifacts during the sample storage and processing (Chao et al., 2008).

Cytochromes P450 3A4 (CYP3A4) and CYP3A5 are important human drug metabolizing enzymes with high interindividual variability in hepatic and intestinal activities. DDI with CYP3A4-inhibiting drug such as itraconazole or inducing drug such as rifampin can dramatically change the CYP3A4 activity in man. Therefore, regulatory agencies such as FDA and EMA have issued guidelines on assessing DDI mediated by P450 enzymes including CYP3A4, 2D6, 2C9, 2C19, and so forth, and various transporters. The most widely used and accepted method to assess CYP3A activity is to examine midazolam PK. Urinary 6β-hydroxycortisol to plasma cortisol metabolic ratio has also been used historically as a noninvasive measure of CYP3A activity (Lutz et al., 2010), which is a more rapid biomarker due to short half-life with little delay time behind the changes of CYP3A4 activity in vivo. However, diurnal effect leads to more variable data. Plasma 4β-hydroxycholesterol is an endogenous metabolite of CYP3A4-mediated cholesterol metabolism and has been extensively investigated. It is the first choice if a stable biomarker is needed. The long half-life of 4β-hydroxycholesterol results in small variations in its concentrations but excludes this marker in short-term studies. Using both biomarkers in clinical studies would be recommended if the outcome is unknown (Mårde Arrhén et al., 2013; Dutreix et al., 2014).

24S-hydroxycholesterol (24S-HC) can be formed from cholesterol via cytochrome P450 family 46A1 (CYP46A1, cholesterol 24-hydroxylase) in brain. 24S-HC is capable of passing across the blood-brain barrier and enters the systemic circulation. Therefore, the plasma concentration of 24S-HC can be used as a marker for cholesterol homeostasis in the human brain (Lutjohann et al., 1996). Sugimoto et al. reported a highly sensitive and specific LC-MS method with an atmospheric pressure chemical ionization interface to determine 24S-hydroxycholesterol in plasma (Sugimoto et al., 2015). Phosphate-buffered saline including 1% Tween 80 was used as the surrogate matrix for preparation of calibration curves and quality control samples. The saponification process to convert esterified 24S-hydroxycholesterol to free sterols was optimized, followed by liquid-liquid extraction using hexane. Chromatographic separation of 24S-hydroxycholesterol from other isobaric endogenous oxysterols was successfully achieved with gradient elution on a C18 column. This assay was capable of determining 24Shydroxycholesterol in human plasma (200 µL) ranging from 1 to 100 ng/mL with acceptable intra- and interday precision and accuracy.

1.9 Conclusion and Future Perspective

There is no doubt that mass spectrometry-based technologies will continue playing major roles for biomarker research including quantitation, especially for small molecule biomarkers and peptide biomarkers which arguably provide more direct links to a biological process in vivo since many of these small molecules or peptides are the direct substrates of these biological processes. There are also many mature technologies available and wealthy application information from literature. Seldom did we fail to develop an assay to quantify this type of biomarkers even though some of them can be quite challenging. We will continue see the use of fit-for-purpose approach in the assay establishment so that the right resources and costs are utilized at different stages of drug discovery and development programs. Continual dialog between industry and regulatory authorities will lead to better and more practical solutions on biomarker quantitation.

Challenges are still ahead of us. Both protein and miRNA biomarkers present significant challenges for LC-MS bioanalysis. Proteins can be measured by LBAs but they suffer potential cross-reactivity with similar proteins which may exist in much high quantity in the samples. Current bottom-up approach (use of surrogate peptide after enzymatic digestion to reflect the intact protein biomarker), while more sensitive than the topdown approach, requires extensive method development and thorough understanding of structure modifications of protein in the body. The top-down approach which utilizes the high-resolution MS detection is less subject to quantitation bias due to protein modifications but is significantly less sensitive and is currently only limited to abundant protein biomarkers. miRNA can be measured by qPCR but the procedure is tedious and assay accuracy is less than desirable to support biomarker utilization with small to moderate changes. Attempt of using LC-MS for miRNA biomarkers is made but all these LC-MS assays suffered from poor sensitivity due to unfavorable ionization of RNA type of molecules, compounded by use of ion-pair reagents or high level of buffers in the mobile phases, typically for RNA/DNA molecules in order to maintain good peak shape.

We will continue to see the improvement of sensitivity by using sample preparation technologies such as immunoaffinity extraction which not only allows cleaner extraction but also provides analyte enrichment. Currently, it is quite costly to use such an approach. Hopefully with more commercialization of antibodies and more automation, the cost will come down significantly. We will also see the use of more applications and refinements of using nano- or micro-LC for the sensitivity enhancement. The lack of system robustness and ability of swift switch of assay parameters are the current limitations, especially for the nano-LC system, which prevents the full utilization of such systems in support of discovery programs where the same instrument needs to support multiple programs with much diversified chemical structures. We will also see some of the enhancement of additional separation capabilities such as ion-mobility device that can assist in separating isomers in the ionization sources. Nevertheless, the Achilles heel of LC-MS-based technologies is the inadequate sensitivity to measure low abundant protein or RNA biomarkers. In order for LC–MS to be more universally applicable to quantifying protein and RNA biomarkers,

References

Ackermann BL. Hybrid immunoaffinity–mass spectrometric methods for efficient protein biomarker verification in pharmaceutical development. Bioanalysis 2009; 1: 265–268.

Anderson DC, Kodukula K. Biomarkers in pharmacology and drug discovery. Biochem. Pharmacol. 2014; 87:172–188.

Arteaga CL. Trastuzumab, an appropriate first-line single-agent therapy for HER2-overexpressing metastatic breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res. 2003; 5: 96–100.

Aubry A-F, Dean B, Diczfalusy U et al. Recommendations on the development of a bioanalytical assay for 4β hydroxycholesterol, an emerging endogenous biomarker of CYP3A activity. AAPS J. 2016; 18: 1056–1066.

Barnaby OS, Benitex Y, Cantone JL et al. Beyond classical derivatization: analyte 'derivatives' in the bioanalysis of endogenous and exogenous compounds. Bioanalysis 2015; 7: 2501–2513.

Barr J, Vazquez-Chantada M, Alonso C et al. Liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry-based parallel metabolic profiling of human and mouse model serum reveals putative biomarkers associated with the progression of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. J. Proteome Res. 2010; 9: 4501–4512.

Basiri B, Bartlett MG. LC–MS of oligonucleotides: applications in biomedical research. Bioanalysis 2014; 6: 1525–1542.

Berna M, Ott L, Engle S et al. Quantification of NTproBNP in rat serum using immunoprecipitation and LC/MS/ MS: a biomarker of drug induced cardiac hypertrophy. Anal. Chem. 2008; 80: 561–566.

Biomarkers Definitions Working Group. Biomarkers and surrogate endpoints: preferred definitions and conceptual framework. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 2001; 69:89–95.

Bodin K, Bretillon L, Aden Y et al. Antiepileptic drugs increase plasma levels of 4β -hydroxycholesterol in humans. Evidence for involvement of cytochrome P450 3A4. J. Biol. Chem. 2001; 276: 38685–38689.

Booth B. When do you need a validated assay? Bioanalysis 2011; 3: 2729–2730.

Boulton M, Dally J. Biomarkers in oncology drug development. Regul. Rapporteur 2010; 4: 5–9.

Bronsema KJ, Bischoff R, van de Merbel NC. Highsensitivity LC-MS/MS quantification of peptides and proteins in complex biological samples: the impact of the absolute sensitivity of mass spectrometer, especially high-resolution mass spectrometer, must be significantly improved.

enzymatic digestion and internal standard selection on method performance. Anal. Chem. 2013; 85: 9528–9535.

Carr SA, Anderson L. Protein quantitation through targeted mass spectrometry: the way out of biomarker purgatory? Clin. Chem. 2008; 54: 1749–1752.

Chao M-R, Yen C-C, Hu C-W. Prevention of artifactual oxidation in determination of cellular 8-oxo-7,8dihydro-2'-deoxyguanosine by isotope-dilution LC–MS/ MS with automated solid-phase extraction. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 2008; 44: 464–473.

Chappell D, Lassman ME, McAvoy T et al. Quantitation of human peptides and proteins via MS: review of analytically validated assays. Bioanalysis 2014; 6: 1843–1857.

Chaturvedi S, Farmer T, Kapke GF. Assay validation for KIM-1: human urinary renal dysfunction biomarker. Int. J. Biol. Sci. 2009; 5: 128–134.

Chintamaneni M, Bhaskar M. Biomarkers in Alzheimer's disease: a review. ISRN Pharmacol. 2012; Article ID 984786, 6 pages.

Choi YS, Hou S, Choe LH et al. Targeted human cerebrospinal fluid proteomics for the validation of multiple Alzheimer's disease biomarker candidates. J. Chromatogr. B 2013; 930: 129–135.

Ciccimaro E, Blair IA. Stable-isotope dilution LC–MS for quantitative biomarker analysis. Bioanalysis 2010; 2: 311–341.

Cummings J, Unwin R, Veenstra TD. Quantitative analysis of biomarkers by LC–MS/MS. J. Chromatogr. B 2009; 877: 1221.

de Gramont A, Watson S, Ellis LM, Rodón J, Tabernero J, de Gramont A, Hamilton SR. Pragmatic issues in biomarker evaluation for targeted therapies in cancer. Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol. 2015; 12: 197–212.

Dehn H, HØgdall EVS, Johansen JS et al. Plasma YKL-40, as a prognostic tumor marker in recurrent ovarian cancer. Acta Obstet. Gynecol. Scand. 2003; 82: 287–293.

Denoroy L, Zimmera L, Renauda B et al. Ultra high performance liquid chromatography as a tool for the discovery and the analysis of biomarkers of diseases: a review. J. Chromatogr. B 2013; 927: 37–53.

DeSilva B, Smith W, Weiner R et al. Recommendations for the bioanalytical method validation of ligand-binding assays to support pharmacokinetic assessments of macromolecules. Pharm. Res. 2003; 20: 1885–1900.

Diniz BS, Pinto Júnior JA, Forlenza OV. Do CSF total tau, phosphorylated tau, and β -amyloid 42 help to predict

progression of mild cognitive impairment to Alzheimer's disease? A systematic review and meta-analysis of the literature. World J. Biol. Psychiatry 2008; 3: 172–182.

Drucker E, Krapfenbauer K. Pitfalls and limitations in translation from biomarker discovery to clinical utility in predictive and personalized medicine. EPMA J. 2013; 4: 7.

Dutreix C, Lorenzo S, Wang Y. Comparison of two endogenous biomarkers of CYP3A4 activity in a drug–drug interaction study between midostaurin and rifampicin. Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 2014; 70: 915–920.

Floyd E, McShane TM. Development and use of biomarkers in oncology drug development. Toxicol. Pathol. 2004; 32(s): 106–115.

Goda R, Kobayashi N. Evaluation of peptide adsorptioncontrolled liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometric (PAC-LC-MS/MS) method for simple and simultaneous quantitation of amyloid 1–38, 1–40, 1–42 and 1–43 peptides in dog cerebrospinal fluid. J. Chromatogr. B 2012; 895: 137–145.

Han WK, Bailly V, Abichandani R et al. Kidney injury molecule-1 (KIM-1): a novel biomarker for human renal proximal tubule injury. Kidney Int. 2002; 62: 237–244.

Herrmann M, Golombowski S, Kräuchi K et al. ELISAquantitation of phosphorylated tau protein in the Alzheimer's disease brain. Eur. Neurol. 1999; 42: 205–210.

Houghton R, Pita CH, Ward I et al. Generic approach to validation of small-molecule LC–MS/MS biomarker assays. Bioanalysis 2009; 1: 1365–1374.

Hougton R, Gouty D, Allinson J et al. Recommendations on biomarker bioanalytical method validation by GCC. Bioanalysis 2012; 4: 2439–2446.

Inoue K, Garner C, Ackermann BL et al. Liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry characterization of oxidized amyloid beta peptides as potential biomarkers of Alzheimer's disease. Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom. 2006; 20: 911–918.

Jian W, Edom E, Weng N et al. Validation and application of an LC–MS/MS method for quantitation of three fatty acid ethanolamides as biomarkers for fatty acid hydrolase inhibition in human plasma. J. Chromatogr. B 2010; 878, 1687–1699.

Jian W, Xu Y, Edom RW et al. Analysis of polar metabolites by hydrophilic interaction chromatography–MS/MS. Bioanalysis 2011; 3: 899–912.

Jian W, Edom R, Weng N. Important considerations for quantitation of small-molecule biomarkers using LC– MS. Bioanalysis 2012; 4: 2431–2434.

Jian W, Edom RW, Wang D et al. Relative quantitation of glycoisoforms of intact apolipoprotein C3 in human plasma by liquid chromatography-high-resolution mass spectrometry. Anal. Chem. 2013; 85: 2867–2874.

Ju J. miRNAs as biomarkers in colorectal cancer diagnosis and prognosis. Bioanalysis 2010; 2: 901–906.

Ju HK, Chung HW, Lee HS et al. Investigation of metabolite alteration in dimethylnitrosamine-induced liver fibrosis by GC–MS. Bioanalysis 2013; 5: 41–51.

Lame ME, Chambers EE, Blatnik M. Quantitation of amyloid beta peptides Aβ1–38, Aβ1–40, and Aβ1–42 in human cerebrospinal fluid by ultra-performance liquid chromatography–tandem mass spectrometry. Anal. Biochem. 2011; 419: 133–139.

Lee JW. Method validation and application of protein biomarkers: basic similarities and differences from biotherapeutics. Bioanalysis 2009; 1: 1461–1474.

Lee JW, Devanarayan V, Barrett YC et al. Fit-for purpose method development and validation for successful biomarker measurement. Pharm. Res. 2006; 23: 312–328.

Li P, Beck WD, Callahan PM et al. Quantitation of cotinine and its metabolites in rat plasma and brain tissue by hydrophilic interaction chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (HILIC–MS/MS). J. Chromatogr. B 2012; 907: 117–125.

Liebler DC, Zimmerman LJ. Targeted quantitation of proteins by mass spectrometry. Biochemistry 2013; 52: 3797–3806.

Lutjohann D, Breuer O, Ahlborg G et al. Cholesterol homeostasis in human brain: evidence for an agedependent flux of 24S-hydroxycholesterol from the brain into the circulation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 1996; 93: 9799–9804.

Lutz U, Bittner N, Ufer M et al. Quantification of cortisol and 6 beta-hydroxycortisol in human urine by LC-MS/ MS, and gender-specific evaluation of the metabolic ratio as biomarker of CYP3A activity. J. Chromatogr. B 2010; 878: 97–101.

Lyons TJ, Basu A. Biomarkers in diabetes: hemoglobin A1c, vascular and tissue markers. Transl. Res. 2012; 159: 303–312.

Mårde Arrhén Y, Nylén H, Lövgren-Sandblom A et al. A comparison of 4β-hydroxycholesterol: cholesterol and 6β-hydroxycortisol: cortisol as markers of CYP3A4 induction. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 2013; 75: 1536–1540.

Mayeux R. Biomarkers: potential uses and limitations. NeuroRX 2004; 1: 182–188.

Mendelsohn J, Baselga J. Status of epidermal growth factor receptor antagonists in the biology and treatment of cancer. J. Clin. Oncol. 2003; 21: 2787–2799.

Meyer TE, Fox SD, Issaq HJ et al. A reproducible and high-throughput HPLC/MS method to separate sarcosine from r- and β -alanine and to quantify sarcosine in human serum and urine. Anal. Chem. 2011; 83: 5735–5740.

Mussap M, Noto A, Fanos V et al. Emerging biomarkers and metabolomics for assessing toxic nephropathy and acute kidney injury (AKI) in neonatology. Biomed. Res. Int. 2014, Article ID 602526, 16 pages.